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Dear Sir/Ma’am, 

Sub: Annual Report for the Financial Year 2019-20 along with Notice of 35
th

Annual General Meeting of the 

Company 

Pursuant to the Regulation 34(1) of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 

Requirements) Regulations 2015, please find attached herewith the Annual Report of the Company including the 
Notice of the 35th Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) for the Financial Year 2019-20 

The Annual Report including the Notice of the AGM is being dispatched electronically to all the members of the 

Company whose Email ID’s are registered with the Company, Link Intime India Private Limited (Registrar & 

Share Transfer Agent) of the Company or Depository Participant(s). 

The AGM of the Company will be held on Wednesday, September 30, 2020 at 02:00 P.M. (IST) through Video 

Conferencing (VC)/Other Audio-Visual Means (OAVM). 

The Annual Report including Notice of the AGM is also being uploaded on the Company’s website at 

www.mayurgroups.com 

This is for your information and records. 

Thanking you,  

 

Yours faithfully  

For and on behalf of  

Mayur Leather Products Limited  

 

 

Ankit Sharma 

Company Secretary 

For further queries in this regard, kindly contact at below mentioned addresses:  

Email Id: cs@mayurleather.com , mlp@mayurleather.com 

 

Encl: as above 

 To,     

BSE Limited 
Phiroze Jeejeebhoy Towers 
Dalal Street 

Mumbai- 400 001  

 

 Scrip Code- 531680 

  Ref:   INE799E01011 

Dated: 07/09/2020 

  

Ankit Kumar Sharma
Digitally signed by Ankit Kumar 
Sharma 
Date: 2020.09.07 11:16:33 +05'30'
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REGISTERED OFFICE ADDRESS
B-5, Vrindavan Apartments,
Vrindavan Vihar, King's Road,
Jaipur – 302019, Rajasthan
Ph: 91-9929988801
E-Mail: mlp@mayurleather.com

VENUE
AGM IS CONDUCTING THROUGH VIDEO 

CONFERENCING

Date & Time: 
Wednesday, 

30th September, 2020 at 02:00 P.M.

As AGM is conducting through Video 
Conferencing Annual Report is already 

sent to all the shareholders on their 
registered mail-id.
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th
NOTICE OF 35  ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE is hereby given that the 35th Annual General Meeting [AGM] of the Members of MAYUR 

LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED will be held on Wednesday, September 30th, 2020 at 02:00 P.M. 

IST through Video Conferencing (“VC”) / Other Audio-Visual Means (“OAVM”), in accordance with 

the relevant circulars issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs and the Securities and Exchange 

Board of India to transact the following businesses:

ORDINARY BUSINESS:

1. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements (including Consolidated 

Financial Statement) of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2020 and together 

with the reports of the Auditors and the Board of directors thereon.

2. To appoint a Director in place of Mrs. Amita Poddar (DIN: 00143486), who retires by 

rotation and being eligible, offers herself for re-appointment.

SPECIAL BUSINESS:

3. Appointment of Mr. Manoj Sharma (DIN: 00541803) as an Independent Director of 

the Company. 

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the following 

resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT, pursuant to the provisions of Section 149,150,152,160 & 161 of the 

Companies Act, 2013 and any other applicable provisions, if any  of the Companies Act, 

2013("Act") and rules made thereunder, (including any statutory modifications or re-

enactment thereof for the time being in force), read with Schedule IV of the Companies Act, 

2013, Mr. Manoj Sharma (DIN: 00541803), who was appointed as an Additional 

(Independent) Director of the Company by the Board in their meeting held on 14th 

February, 2020 and whose term expires at ensuing Annual General Meeting of the 

Company and in respect of whom company has received a notice in writing under section 

160 of the Companies Act, 2013 from a member proposing his Candidature for the office of 

the Director of the company and who has submitted a declaration that he meets the criteria 

of the Independence as provide under section 149 (6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and 

regulation 16 (1) (b) of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 

Disclosure Requirements)

Regulations, 2015 be and is hereby appointed as an Independent Director of the Company 

to hold office for a term of 5 (five) years commencing from February 14, 2020 till the 

conclusion of AGM to be held in the year ending March 31, 2025 and whose office shall not 

be liable to retire by rotation.” 

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT, the Board of Director(s) of the Company be and are hereby 

authorized jointly and/or severally to take such steps as may be necessary for obtaining 

approvals , statutory or otherwise in relation to above, and to settle all the matters arising 

out of and incidental thereto and sign and execute all the relevant application, documents 

and writings that may be required, on the behalf of the Company and to do all such acts, 

deeds, matters and things as may be necessary, proper, expedient or incidental to give 

effect to the aforesaid resolution.”
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4. Appointment of Ms. Ashwarya Poddar (DIN: 08268732) as a Non-Executive Director of 

the Company.

To consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without modification(s), the following 

resolution as an Ordinary Resolution:

“RESOLVED THAT, pursuant to the provisions of Section 152,160 & 161 of the 

Companies Act, 2013 and any other applicable provisions, if any (including any statutory 

modifications or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force), read with Schedule IV of 

the Companies Act, 2013, Ms. Ashwarya Poddar (DIN: 08268732), who was appointed as 

an Additional Non-Executive Director of the Company by the Board by passing Resolution 

by Circulation dated 27th January, 2020 and whose term expires at ensuing Annual 

General Meeting of the Company and for the same the Company has received her 

Candidature  in writing by the Board of Directors  for the office of the Director be and is 

hereby appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company liable to retire by rotation.”

RESOLVED FURTHER THAT for the purpose of giving effect to this resolution, the Board 

be and is hereby authorized to do all such acts, deeds, matters and things as it may in its 

absolute discretion deem necessary, proper, or desirable and to settle any question, 

difficulty, doubt that may arise in respect of the shifting of registered office aforesaid and 

further to do all such acts, deeds and things and to execute all documents and writings as 

may be necessary, proper, desirable or expedient to give effect to this resolution.”

               

 BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FOR MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE: JAIPUR
stDATE: 01  September, 2020     Sd/

                                                                                   ANKIT SHARMA

                                                                                      COMPANY SECRETARY
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NOTES:

1. IN VIEW OF THE CONTINUING COVID-19 PANDEMIC, AND PURSUANT TO THE 

GENERAL CIRCULAR NUMBER 20/2020 DATED MAY 5, 2020 READ WITH GENERAL 

CIRCULAR NO. 14/2020 DATED APRIL 8, 2020 AND GENERAL CIRCULAR NO. 

17/2020 DATED APRIL 13, 2020 ISSUED BY THE MINISTRY OF CORPORATE 

AFFAIRS (MCA) AND CIRCULAR NUMBER SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD1/CIR/P/2020/79 

ISSUED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE BOARD OF INDIA (SEBI) 

(COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO AS “THE CIRCULARS”) COMPANIES ARE 

PERMITTED TO HOLD THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM”) THROUGH VIDEO 

CONFERENCING (VC) / OTHER AUDIO VISUAL MEANS (OAVM), WITHOUT THE 

PHYSICAL PRESENCE OF THE MEMBERS AT A COMMON VENUE. IN COMPLIANCE 

WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 (“ACT”), SEBI (LISTING 

OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015 (“SEBI 

LISTING REGULATIONS”) AND MCA CIRCULARS, THE AGM OF THE COMPANY IS 

BEING HELD THROUGH VC / OAVM. THE DEEMED VENUE FOR THE 35TH AGM 

SHALL BE THE REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY.

2. The relative Explanatory Statements pursuant to section 102(1) of the Companies Act, 
2013 with respect to the special businesses set out in the Notice are annexed.

3. PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF THE ACT, A MEMBER ENTITLED TO ATTEND 

AND VOTE AT THE AGM IS ENTITLED TO APPOINT A PROXY TO ATTEND AND VOTE 

INSTEAD OF HIMSELF/HERSELF AND THE PROXY NEED NOT BE A MEMBER OF 

THE COMPANY. SINCE, THE AGM IS BEING HELD IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

CIRCULARS THROUGH VIDEO CONFERENCING (VC) / OTHER AUDIO-VISUAL 

MEANS (OAVM), THE FACILITY FOR APPOINTMENT OF PROXIES BY THE MEMBERS 

WILL NOT BE AVAILABLE AND HENCE THE PROXY FORM AND ATTENDANCE SLIP 

INCLUDING ROUTE MAP ARE NOT ANNEXED TO THIS NOTICE.

4. Participation of members through VC/OAVM will be reckoned for the purpose of quorum 
for the AGM as per section 103 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”).

5. Additional Information, required under Regulation 36(3) of the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and 
Secretarial Standard 2 on General Meeting issued by ICSI, the relevant details of Directors 
retiring by rotation and/or seeking appointment/re-appointment at the ensuing AGM is 
annexed hereto along with the Notice as per Schedule V of the Companies Act, 2013 forms 
part of Notice. The Directors have furnished consent/ Declaration on their appointment / 
reappointment as required under the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made there 
under.

6. Corporate Members (i.e. other than individuals/HUF, NRI, etc) are requested to send a 
scanned copy (PDF / JPEG format) of the Board Resolution or governing body 
Resolution/Authorization etc., authorizing its representatives to attend and vote at the 
AGM, pursuant to Section 113 of the Act, to the Scrutinizer at aroracs2@gmail.com with a 
copy marked to the Company at mlp@mayurleather.com / cs@mayurleather.com

7. In compliance with the aforesaid MCA Circulars and SEBI Circular dated May 12, 2020, 
Notice of the AGM along with the Annual Report 2019-20 is being sent only through 
electronic mode to those Members whose email addresses are registered with the 
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Company/ Depositories as on cutoff date i.e. 28st August, 2020. Members may note that 
the Notice and Annual Report 2019-20 will also be available on the Company's website 
www.mayurgroups.com, website of the Stock Exchanges i.e. BSE Limited at 
www.bseindia.com and The AGM Notice is also disseminated on the website of CDSL 
(agency for providing the Remote e-Voting facility and e-voting system during the AGM) i.e. 
www.evotingindia.com. unless any Member has requested for a physical copy of the same. 
For Members who have not registered their e-mail addresses, physical copies are being sent 
by the permitted mode.

8. Members whose shareholding is in electronic form are requested to intimate immediately 
any change in their address or bank mandates to their respective Depository Participant(s) 
(DP) with whom they are maintaining their Demat accounts. Members whose shareholding 
is in physical form are requested to advise any change in their address or bank mandates 
intimate immediately to the Company / RTA.

9. Members wishing to claim dividends that remain unclaimed are requested to correspond 
with the Registrar and Share Transfer Agents as mentioned above, or the Company 
Secretary, at the Company's registered office, Members are requested to note that 
dividends that are not claimed within seven years from the date of transfer to the 
Company's Unpaid Dividend Account, will as per section 124 of the Act, be transferred to 
the Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF). Shares on which Dividend remains 
unclaimed for seven consecutive years will be transferred to the IEPF as per section 124 of 
the Act, and the applicable IEPF rules.

10. Documents open for inspection:

i) All the documents referred to in the accompanying notice and the statement pursuant 
to Section 102 (1) of the Companies Act, 2013 shall be available for inspection through 
electronic mode without any fee by the members from the date of circulation of this 
Notice up to the date of AGM. Members are requested to write to the Company on 
cs@mayurleather.com for inspection of said documents; and

ii) The Register of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel and their shareholding 
maintained under Section 170 of the Act and the Register of Contracts or 
Arrangements in which the directors are interested, maintained under Section 189 of 
the Act and relevant documents referred to in this Notice of AGM and explanatory 
statement, will be available electronically for inspection by the members during the 
AGM, upon login to https://instameet.linkintime.co.in 

11. Members are requested to address all correspondence to M/s. Link India Intime Pvt. 

Limited., Noble Heights 1st Floor, Plot No. NH-2 LSC, C-1, Block near Savitri Market 
Industrial Area, Janakpuri, New Delhi – 110058 who is acting as our Registrar and Share 
Transfer Agent. Please quote your folio number and our Company's name in all your future 
correspondences.

12.  There is no record date for the purpose of Dividend as the same is not recommended by the 
Board of Directors for FY 2019-20.

13. Other than Mrs. Amita Poddar and Mr. Rajendra Kumar Poddar, Director & CEO, and Ms. 
Ashwarya Poddar being related to Mrs. Amita Poddar, none of the other Directors, Key 
Managerial Personnel or their relatives, are interested or concerned, financially or 
otherwise, in the Ordinary Business set out at Item No. 2 of this Notice. Mrs. Amita Poddar 
is also interested in the resolution to the extent of her shareholding in the Company. 
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Relatives of Mrs. Amita Poddar  may be deemed to be interested in the said resolution, to 
the extent of their shareholding in the Company, if any. 

14. Members holding shares in the same set of names under different ledger folios are 
requested to apply for consolidation of such folios along with share certificates to the 
Company.   In case of joint holders, the Member whose name appears as the first holder in 
the order of names as per the Register of Members of the Company will be entitled to vote at 
the AGM.

15. Members who hold shares in physical form are requested to send all correspondence 
concerning registration of transfers, transmissions, sub-division, consolidation of shares 
or any other shares related matter and / or change in address or bank account, to R&TA of 
the Company and in case of shares held in electronic mode, to their respective Depository 
Participants.

16. Members desirous of getting any information about the accounts and/or operation of the 
Company are requested to write to the Company at least seven days before the date of 
meeting to enable us to keep the information ready at the meeting through email on 
cs@mayurleather.com . The same will be replied by the Company suitably.

17. SEBI encourages all shareholders to hold their shares in dematerialized form as this 

eliminates the possibility of damage/loss of physical share certificate(s) & cases of 

forgery and facilitates the ease and convenience of paperless trading of shares. 

Further, no stamp duty is payable on transfer of shares held in Demat form. It is also 

pertinent to mention that with effect from April 01, 2019, SEBI has prescribed that 

requests for effecting transfer of securities (except transmission or transposition 

cases) shall not be processed unless the securities are held in the dematerialized form 

with a depository. Accordingly, we request you to convert your shareholdings from 

physical form to demat form at the earliest, in existing demat account or new demat 

account to be opened with any Depository Participant.

18. The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) has mandated the submission of 
Permanent Account Number (PAN) by every participant in securities market. Members 
holding shares in electronic form are, therefore requested to submit the PAN to their 
Depository Participant(s) with whom they are maintaining their Demat accounts. Members 
holding shares in physical form can submit their PAN details to the Company/Registrar 
and Transfer Agents.

19. Members holding shares in single name are advised to avail the facility of nomination in 
respect of shares held by them pursuant to the provisions of Section 72 of the Companies 
Act, 2013. Members holding shares in physical form desiring to avail this facility may send 
their nomination in the prescribed Form No. SH-13 duly filled in to Link Intime. Members 
holding shares in electronic mode may contact their respective Depository Participants for 
availing this facility. The Form SH-13 is available on the website of the Company at 
www.mayurgroups.com

20. Pursuant to the provision of section 108 of the Companies Act,2013 read with Rule 20, of 
the Companies (Management and Administration) Rules, 2014 (as amended) and 
Regulation 44 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (as amended) and the circulars issued by the 
Ministry of Corporate Affairs dated April 08, 2020, April 13, 2020 and May 05, 2020, the 
Company is providing a facility of remote e-voting to its members in respect of the business 
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to be transacted at the AGM, to exercise their votes electronically through the electronic 
voting (e-voting) service facilitated by the Central Depository Services (India) Limited 
(CDSL). The facility of casting votes by a member using remote e-voting as well as e-voting 
system on the date of the AGM will be provided by the CDSL. 

21. The remote e-voting period will commence on 09.00 A.M. on Sunday, September 27th, 

2020 and ends on 05.00 P.M. on Tuesday, September 29th, 2020.

22. The Members who have cast their vote by remote e-voting prior to the AGM may also 
attend/ participate in the AGM through VC / OAVM but shall not be entitled to cast their 
vote again.

23. The voting rights of Members shall be in proportion to their shares in the paid-up equity 

share capital of the Company as on the cut-off date as on Wednesday, 23rd September, 

2020 (Cut off date). 

24. The facility for voting during the AGM will also be made available. Members present in the 
AGM through VC and who have not cast their vote on the resolutions through remote e-
voting and are otherwise not barred from doing so, shall be eligible to vote through the e-
voting system during the AGM.

25. Members, whose names appear in the Register of Members / list of Beneficial Owners as on 

Wednesday, 23rd September, 2020 (Cut Off Date for E-Voting) are entitled to vote on the 
Resolutions set forth in this Notice. The members may cast their votes on electronic voting 
system from place other than the venue of the meeting (remote e-voting).

26. Any person who acquires shares of the Company and becomes a Member of the Company 
after sending of the Notice and holding shares as of the cut-off date, may obtain the login ID 
and password by sending a request at evoting@cdsl.co.in.  However, if he / she is already 
registered with CSDL for remote e-voting then he / she can use his / her existing user ID 
and password for casting the vote.

27. The Company has appointed Mr. Deepak Arora, Practicing Company Secretary, to act as 
the Scrutinizer, to scrutinize the entire e-voting process in a fair and transparent manner.

28. The Scrutinizer shall, immediately after the conclusion of voting at the AGM, first count the 
votes cast during the AGM, thereafter unblock the votes cast through remote e-voting and 
make, not later than 48 hours of conclusion of the AGM, a consolidated Scrutinizer's 
Report of the total votes cast in favour or against, if any, to the Chairman or a person 
authorized by him in writing, who shall countersign the same.

29. The final results including the remote E-voting results shall be declared at the AGM of the 
Company. The result declared along with the Scrutinizer's Report shall be placed on the 
Company's website www.mayurgroups.com and on the website of CDSL 
https://www.evotingindia.com  immediately. The Company shall simultaneously forward 
the results to BSE Limited, where the shares of the Company are listed.

30. Company's website www.mayurgroups.com will be uploaded with the above documents 
well before the mandatory period and the copies of the aforesaid documents will be 
available for inspection at the registered Office of the Company also.

31. The resolutions proposed will be deemed to have been passed on the date of the AGM 
subject to receipt of the requisite number of votes in favour of the resolutions.

32. E-VOTING FACILITY

The voting period begins on 09.00 A.M. on Sunday, September 27th, 2020 and ends on 
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05.00 P.M. on Tuesday, September 29th, 2020.  During this period shareholder's of the 
Company, holding shares either in physical form or in dematerialized form, as on the cut-

off date (record date) of Wednesday, 23rd September, 2020, may cast their vote 
electronically. The e-voting module shall be disabled by CDSL for voting thereafter.

v In case a Member receives an e-mail from CDSL (for Members whose e-mail addresses are 
registered with the Company/Depositories): 

i) The shareholders should log on to the e-voting website www.evotingindia.com 
during the voting period.

ii) Click on “Shareholders” tab.

iii) Now Enter your User ID 

a. For CDSL: 16 digits beneficiary ID, 

b. For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 Digits Client ID, 

c. Members holding shares in Physical Form should enter Folio Number 
registered with the Company.

iv) Next enter the Image Verification as displayed and Click on Login.

v) If you are holding shares in demat form and had logged on to www.evotingindia.com 
and voted on an earlier voting of any company, then your existing password is to be 
used. 

vi) If you are a first time user follow the steps given below:

th35  ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 9



10

vii) After entering these details appropriately, click on “SUBMIT” tab.

viii) Members holding shares in physical form will then directly reach the Company 
selection screen. However, members holding shares in demat form will now reach 
'Password Creation' menu wherein they are required to mandatorily enter their login 
password in the new password field. Kindly note that this password is to be also 
used by the demat holders for voting for resolutions of any other company on which 
they are eligible to vote, provided that company opts for e-voting through CDSL 
platform. It is strongly recommended not to share your password with any other 
person and take utmost care to keep your password confidential.

ix) For Members holding shares in physical form, the details can be used only for e-
voting on the resolutions contained in this Notice.

x) Click on the EVSN-200902015 for the relevant <Mayur Leather Products 

Limited> on which you choose to vote.

xi) On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION DESCRIPTION” and against the 
same the option “YES/NO” for voting. Select the option YES or NO as desired. The 
option YES implies that you assent to the Resolution and option NO implies that you 
dissent to the Resolution.

xii) Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you wish to view the entire Resolution 
details.

xiii) After selecting the resolution you have decided to vote on, click on “SUBMIT”. A 
confirmation box will be displayed. If you wish to confirm your vote, click on “OK”, 
else to change your vote, click on “CANCEL” and accordingly modify your vote.

xiv) Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, you will not be allowed to modify 
your vote.

xv) You can also take out print of the voting done by you by clicking on “Click here to 
print” option on the Voting page.

xvi) If Demat account holder has forgotten the same password then Enter the User ID 
and the image verification code and click on Forgot Password & enter the details as 
prompted by the system.

xvii) Note Non – Individual Shareholders and Custodians

• Non-Institutional shareholders (i.e. other than Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) are 
required to log on to http://www.evotingindia.com and register themselves as 
Corporates. 

• A scanned copy of the Registration Form bearing the stamp and sign of the entity 
should be emailed to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com.

• After receiving the login details they have to create a compliance user should be 
created using the admin login and password. The Compliance user would be 
able to link the account(s) for which they wish to vote on.

• The list of accounts should be mailed to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com and on 
approval of the accounts they would be able to cast their vote. 

• A scanned copy of the Board Resolution and Power of Attorney (POA) which they 
have issued in favor of the Custodian, if any, should be uploaded in PDF format 
in the system for the Scrutinizer to verify the same
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xviii) In case you have any queries or issues regarding e-voting, you may refer the 
Frequently Asked Questions (“FAQs”) and e-voting manual available at 
www.evotingindia.com under help section or write an email to 
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact Mr. Nitin Kunder (022- 23058738 ) or 
Mr. Mehboob Lakhani (022-23058543) or Mr. Rakesh Dalvi (022-23058542).

xix)  All grievances connected with the facility for voting by electronic means may be 
addressed to Mr. Rakesh Dalvi, Manager, (CDSL, ) Central Depository Services 
(India) Limited, A Wing, 25th Floor, Marathon Futurex, Mafatlal Mill Compounds, N 
M Joshi Marg, Lower Parel (East), Mumbai - 400013 or send an email to 
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or call  on 022-23058542/43.

33. PROCESS FOR THOSE SHAREHOLDERS WHOSE EMAIL ADDRESSES ARE NOT 

REGISTERED WITH THE DEPOSITORIES FOR OBTAINING LOGIN CREDENTIALS 

FOR E-VOTING FOR THE RESOLUTIONS PROPOSED IN THIS NOTICE:

a) For Physical shareholders- please provide necessary details like Folio No., Name of 
shareholder, scanned copy of the share certificate (front and back), PAN (self-
attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR (self-attested scanned copy of Aadhar 
Card) by email to cs@mayurleather.com  

b) For Demat shareholders - please provide Demat account details (CDSL-16 digit 
beneficiary ID or NSDL-16 digit DPID + CLID), Name, client master or copy of 
Consolidated Account statement, PAN (self-attested scanned copy of PAN card), 
AADHAR (self-attested scanned copy of Aadhar Card) to cs@mayurleather.com 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SHAREHOLDERS ATTENDING THE AGM THROUGH VC/OAVM 
ARE AS UNDER:

a) Shareholder will be provided with a facility to attend the AGM through VC/OAVM 
through the CDSL e-Voting system. Shareholders may access the same at 
https://www.evotingindia.com  under shareholders/members login by using the 
remote e-voting credentials. The link for VC/OAVM will be available in 
shareholder/members login where the EVSN of Company will be displayed.

b) Shareholders are encouraged to join the Meeting through Laptops / IPads for better 
experience.

c) Further shareholders will be required to allow Camera and use Internet with a good 
speed to avoid any disturbance during the meeting.

d) Please note that Participants Connecting from Mobile Devices or Tablets or through 
Laptop connecting via Mobile Hotspot may experience Audio/Video loss due to 
Fluctuation in their respective network. It is therefore recommended to use Stable 
Wi-Fi or LAN Connection to mitigate any kind of aforesaid glitches.

e) Shareholders who would like to express their views/ask questions during the 
meeting may register themselves as a speaker by sending their request in advance 
atleast 7 days prior to meeting mentioning their name, demat account number/folio 
number, email id, mobile number at company email id i.e. www.mayurgroups.com. 
The shareholders who do not wish to speak during the AGM but have queries may 
send their queries in advance 7 days prior to meeting mentioning their name, demat 
account number/folio number, email id, mobile number at company email id i.e. 
www.mayurgroups.com. These queries will be replied to by the company suitably by 
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email. 

f Those shareholders who have registered themselves as a speaker will only be 
allowed to express their views/ask questions during the meeting.

34. INSTRUCTIONS FOR SHAREHOLDERS FOR E-VOTING DURING THE AGM ARE AS 

UNDER: -

a) The procedure for e-Voting on the day of the AGM is same as the instructions 
mentioned above for Remote e-voting.

b) Only those shareholders, who are present in the AGM through VC/OAVM facility 
and have not casted their vote on the Resolutions through remote e-Voting and are 
otherwise not barred from doing so, shall be eligible to vote through e-Voting system 
available during the AGM.

c) If any Votes are cast by the shareholders through the e-voting available during the 
AGM and if the same shareholders have not participated in the meeting through 
VC/OAVM facility , then the votes cast by such shareholders shall be considered 
invalid as the facility of e-voting during the meeting is available only to the 
shareholders attending the meeting.

d) Shareholders who have voted through Remote e-Voting will be eligible to attend the 
EGM/AGM. However, they will not be eligible to vote at the EGM/AGM.

 BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FOR MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE: JAIPUR
st

DATE: 01  September, 2020     Sd/

                                                                                   ANKIT SHARMA

                                                                                      COMPANY SECRETARY
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ANNEXURE TO THE NOTICE

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 102 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

ITEM NO. 3

The Board of Directors appointed Mr. Manoj Sharma (DIN: 00541803) as an Additional 
Independent Director of the Company with effect from 14.02.2020 who in terms of the provisions 
of Section 149(4) and 161(1) of the Act, shall hold office upto the date of this Annual General 
Meeting and is eligible for the appointment as an Independent Director. Also pursuant to the 
provisions of the Section 150(2) read with Section 152(2) of the Act, the appointment of 
Independent Director shall be approved by the members of the Company in General Meeting.

The Company has received a notice in writing from a Director under Section 160 of the Act 
proposing the Candidature for Mr. Manoj Sharma as an Independent Director of the Company 
who has given a declaration to the effect that he meets the criteria of Independence as provided 
under Section 149(6) of the Companies Act and regulation 16(1)(b) of the SEBI(Listing obligations 
& Disclosure Requirements), 2015 along with the declaration under Section 164(2) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with the rules made there under, confirming he is not disqualified to be 
reappointed as a Director of the Company.

In the opinion of the Board, Mr. Manoj Sharma fulfills the condition for appointment as an 
Independent Director as specified in the Act and Listing Regulations, Mr. Manoj Sharma is 
Independent of the management. The Board of Directors on the basis of the report of performance 
evaluation has recommended the re-appointment of Mr. Manoj Sharma as an Independent 
Director for the term of 5 consecutive years w.e.f 14th Feb. 2020 on the Board of the Company. He 
shall be paid remuneration on the basis of attending meeting of the Board or Committees thereof 
or for any other purpose whatsoever as may be decided by the Board, reimbursement of the 
expenses for participating in the Board Meetings and other Meetings. Details of Mr. Manoj Sharma 
are provided in the “Annexure-A” pursuant to Listing Regulations and Secretarial Standard on 
General Meetings (SS-2), issued by the ICSI.

None of the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel of the Company and their relatives except Mr. 
Manoj Sharma, being an appointee in in any way, concerned or interested, financially or otherwise 
in the resolution set out as Item No. 3 of the Notice. The Board recommends the Ordinary 
Resolution as set out in Item No. 3 in the Notice for approval by the Members.

EXPLANATORY STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SECTION 102 OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013

ITEM NO. 4

The Board of Directors appointed Ms. Ashwarya Poddar (DIN: 08268732) as an Additional Non-
Executive Director of the Company with effect from 29.01.2020 who in terms of the provisions of 
Section 161(1) of the Act, shall hold office upto the date of this Annual General Meeting and is 
eligible for the appointment as an Non- Executive Director subject to the approval by the members 
of the Company in General Meeting.

The Company has received a notice in writing from a Director under Section 160 of the Act 
proposing the Candidature for Ms. Ashwarya Poddar as an Non-Executive Director of the 
Company who has given a declaration with the declaration under Section 164(2) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with the rules made there under, confirming she is not disqualified to be 
reappointed as a Director of the Company.

In the opinion of the Board, Ms. Ashwarya Poddar fulfills the condition for appointment as a Non-
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Executive Director as specified in the Act and Listing Regulations. The Board of Directors on the 
basis of the report of performance evaluation has recommended the re-appointment of Ms. 
Ashwarya Poddar as an Non-Executive Director w.e.f 29th Jan. 2020 on the Board of the 
Company. Details of Ms. Ashwarya Poddar are provided in the “Annexure-A” pursuant to Listing 
Regulations and Secretarial Standard on General Meetings (SS-2), issued by the ICSI.

None of the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel of the Company and their relatives except Ms. 
Ashwarya Poddar, being an appointee in in any way, concerned or interested, financially or 
otherwise in the resolution set out as Item No. 4 of the Notice. The Board recommends the 
Ordinary Resolution as set out in Item No. 4 in the Notice for approval by the Members.

               

 BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FOR MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE: JAIPUR
st

DATE: 01  September, 2020     Sd/

                                                                                   ANKIT SHARMA

                                                                                      COMPANY SECRETARY
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ANNEXURE TO THE NOTICE OF 35th AGM

Details of the Directors seeking Appointment/Re-appointment at 35th Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) pursuant to Regulation 36 (3) of SEBI (Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 and Secretarial Standard-2 on General Meetings issued by the ICSI.

(i) Brief Profile
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(ii) Brief Profile
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(iii) Brief Profile

 BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

FOR MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE: JAIPUR
stDATE: 01  September, 2020     Sd/

                                                                                   ANKIT SHARMA

                                                                                      COMPANY SECRETARY
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Board's Report

Dear Shareholders,

Mayur Leather Products Limited

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the 35th Annual Report on the business operations 
and financial performance of Mayur Leather Products Limited. (“the Company” or “MLPL”) along 
with the Audited Financial Statements for the Financial Year ended March 31st, 2020 (the 
“Financial Year”). The consolidated performance of the Company and its subsidiaries has been 
referred to wherever required

1. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Financial Performance of the Company for the year ended on 31st March, 2020 is as follows:
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Previous year figures have been re-grouped and rearranged wherever considered necessary.

2. STATE OF COMPANY'S AFFAIRS AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

During the year 2019–20, company's performance was not so satisfactory as revenue from 
operation has decreased by 21.68% as compared to year 2018-2019.

The table below shows the comparative growth in revenue of the Company since last three years:

During the financial year for restricting the financial position of the company, the Board of 
Directors of the company has decided to sell out its factory building situated at G-60-62 & 67-69, 
JAITPURA INDUSTRIAL ESTATE JAIPUR-303704 (RAJ) and to repay its existing Loan from that 
fund so that company make profit components and increase the turnover and profitability of your 
company and for the revival the financial position of the company, for this company has taken 
approval from the shareholders in Annual General meeting held dated 18.11.2019. 

Further Company has sold out its factory building situated at G-60-62 & 67-69, JAITPURA 
INDUSTRIAL ESTATE JAIPUR-303704 Rajasthan and shifted its Factory premises on a rented 
property of its Subsidiary i.e. Mayur Global Private Limited in which director are interested, 
situated at RIICO Industrial Aera, Manpura Machedi, Tehsil Ajmer, Delhi Bypass Road, Jaipur-
303805, Rajasthan and repay its most of the Loan of the company and the company balance its 
Financial Position.

In the last month of FY 2019-2020, the COVID-19 pandemic developed rapidly into a global crisis, 
forcing governments to enforce lock-downs of all economic activity. Although there are 
uncertainties due to the pandemic and reversal of the positive momentum gained in the last 
quarter of FY 2019-20. 

The company promptly responded to this global pandemic and ensured well-being of its 
employees and stakeholders. COVID-19 is significantly impacting business operation of the 
companies, by way of unavailability of personnel, closure / lockdown of production facilities etc. 
The Production work of the Company was impacted due to the shutdown of factories and offices 
following the lockdown imposed by State/Central Government w.e.f. March 23, 2020 and the 
company resumed back its operations gradually since May 11, 2020 and the company has started 
again its business and we are hoping that will overcome from all these the financial position, 
liquidity, profitability of the Company well to navigate the challenges ahead and gain market 
share.

The Company acknowledges the importance of the plant and employees as the base behind the 
success of the Company. Your Company believes that it's the teamwork of the employees which 
enables Company to reach the new heights. The Company is committed to work together keeping 
in full trust on each other and strive to keep itself in the high growth trajectory to achieve newer 
heights.

3. TRANSFER TO RESERVES

For the period under review the Board is not transferring any amount to General Reserve Account 
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of  the Company.  

4. DIVIDEND

There is not adequate surplus to declare any dividend during the year; therefore your Directors did 
not recommend payment of any dividend for the Financial Year 2019-20.

5. EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

The extract of the Annual Return as on 31st March 2020, in the prescribed form MGT-9, form part 
of this report and as set out in Annexure I. 

In accordance with the provisions of Section 134(3) read with Section 92 (3) of the Companies Act, 
2013, the extract of the Annual Return is available on website of the Company at 
www.mayurgroups.com.

6. DEPOSITS

During the year ended 31st March, 2020, the Company has not accepted deposits from the public 
falling within the ambit of Section 73 and 74 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules framed 
there under and hence no amount on account of principal or interest on public deposits was 
outstanding as on the date of the Balance Sheet. 

7. CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Current Capital Structure of the Company is given below:-

a) Authorized Capital :- Rs. 5,80,00,000 (Five Crores Eighty Lakhs divided into 
58,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10/- each)

b) Issued Capital :-  Rs. 4,83,48,000 (Four Crores Eighty Three Lakhs Forty 
Eight Thousand   divided into 48,34,800 Equity Shares 
of Rs. 10/- each.)

c) Subscribed and Paid-up Capital :- Rs. 4,83,48,000 (Four Crores Eighty Three Lakhs Forty 
Eight Thousand divided into 48,34,800 Equity Shares of 
Rs. 10/- each.) 

During the year, Company has not issued any equity share with differential voting rights hence 
the disclosure under Rule 4 (4) of the Companies (Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014 is 
not applicable.

8. BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL (KMPs)

It is informed to the members of the Company that  during the Financial Year 2019-2020, 
following change were made in the Board Composition and KMP'S:-

• Ms. Divya Karla, Non-Executive & Independent Director of the Company has 
tendered her resignation from Directorship w.e.f May 07, 2019.

• Mr. Akhilesh Poddar has appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the company w.e.f. 
Sep. 17, 2019 in place of Dinesh Swami who has resigned form the post of CFO w.e.f. 
September 09, 2019

• Mr. Rajesh Gupta, Non-Executive Director of the Company has tendered his 
resignation from the Directorship w.e.f. November 27, 2019.

• Ms. Ashwarya Poddar has appointed as Additional Non-Executive Director of the 
Company w.e.f January 29, 2020.
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• Ms. Heena Lakhani, Company Secretary has resigned with effect from February 13, 
2020 and in her place, Mr. Ankit Sharma has been appointed as Company Secretary 
of the company with effect from February 14, 2020. 

• Mr. Manoj Sharma has appointed as Additional Independent Director of the 
Company w.e.f. February 14, 2020.

The Board of Directors show active participation at the board and committee meetings, which 
enhances the transparency and adds value to their decision making. The Board of the Company is 
headed by a Non - Executive Chairman. Chairman takes the strategic decisions, frames the policy 
guidelines and extends wholehearted support to Executive Directors, business heads and 
associates.

Details of Change in Directors and Key Managerial Personnel are summarized as follows:

Retirement by Rotation-

Mrs. Amita Poddar (DIN: 00143486), Director of the Company whose period of office is liable   to 
retire by rotation pursuant to provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and as per Articles of 
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Association of the Company retires by rotation at the ensuing AGM and being eligible offers herself 
for reappointment.

9. MEETINGS OF THE BOARD

During the year ended March 31, 2020, 5 (Five) Board Meetings were held. The maximum time gap 
between any two consecutive meetings did not exceed one hundred and twenty days.

Frequency of and quorum etc. at these meetings were in conformity with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013, Regulation 17 of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and Secretarial Standard (SS-1) 
issued by the Institute of Company Secretaries of India (ICSI). All the Board members, KMPs and 
the senior management have affirmed compliance with the Code of Conduct during the year ended 
on March 31, 2020.

Details of attendance of Directors at the Board Meetings held during the financial year under 
review and attendance at the last Annual General Meeting (AGM) are as follows:

* Date of Original Meeting was 14.11.2019 which was adjourned to 15.11.2019.
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* Date of Original Meeting was 13.02.2020 which was adjourned to 14.02.2020.

• Ms. Divya Karla, Non-Executive & Independent Director of the Company has 
tendered her resignation from Directorship w.e.f May 07, 2019.

• Mr. Rajesh Gupta resigned from Directorship on 27.11.2019

• Date of Appointment of Ashwarya Poddar as Non-Executive Director as on 
29.01.2020.

• Date of Appointment of Mr. Manoj Sharma as an Additional Independent Director as 
on 14.02.2020.

The intervening gap between the said meetings were in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013, relevant Rules made thereunder, Secretarial Standard-I issued by Institute 
of Company Secretaries of India and provisions of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

10. COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

• AUDIT COMMITTEE

The composition of the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company along with the 
details of the attendance of the members of the committee during the financial year 2019-20 are 
detailed: 

* Date of Original Meeting was 14.11.2019 which was adjourned to 15.11.2019.

* Date of Original Meeting was 13.02.2020 which was adjourned to 14.02.2020.

(1) Ceased to be a Chairperson of the committee w.e.f. 07.05.2019due to cessation from 
directorship

(2) Appointed as chairman of the committee w.e.f. 30.05.2019 (change in designation 
from member to chairman)

(3) Mr. Rajesh Gupta was appointed as Member in Committee w.e.f. 30.05.2019 and 
ceased to be a member of the committee w.e.f. 27/11/2019 due to cessation from 
directorship.

(4) Appointed as a Member of Committee w.e.f. 29.01.2020 & Ceased to be a Member of 
Committee w.e.f. 14.02.2020

(5) Appointed as chairman of the committee w.e.f. 14.02.2020
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Note:  The Audit committee has been re-constituted w.e.f. February 14, 2020 with composition; 
Mr. Manoj Sharma (Chairman), Mr. Madhusudan Prasad Kejriwal (Member) and Mrs. Amita 
Poddar (Member).

• NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Committee comprised of 3 members during the financial year. The detail of the composition of   
the Nomination and Remuneration committee along with their meetings held/attended is as 
follows:

(1) Appointed as chairman of the committee w.e.f. 30.05.2019 (change in designation 
from member to chairman).

(2) Ceased to be a Member of the committee w.e.f. 07.05.2019 due to cessation from 
directorship

(3) Mrs. Amita Poddar was appointed as Member in Committee w.e.f. 30.05.2019 

(4) Ceased to be a member of the committee w.e.f. 27/11/2019 due to resignation.

(5) Appointed as a Member of Committee w.e.f. 29.01.2020 & Ceased to be a Member of 
Committee w.e.f.  14.02.2020

(6) Appointed as chairman of the committee w.e.f. 14.02.2020

The policy formulated by  Nomination and Remuneration Committee on director's appointment 
and remuneration including criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes, 
independence of a director and other matters as specified under section 178(3) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and same was approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. The policy is annexed 
herewith as Annexure- II.

Note:  The Nomination & Remuneration committee has been re-constituted w.e.f. February 14, 
2020 with composition; Mr. Manoj Sharma (Chairman), Mr. Madhusudan Prasad Kejriwal 
(Member) and Mrs. Amita Poddar (Member).

• STAKEHOLDER'S RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE

The Committee comprised of following members during the financial year. The detail of the 
composition of the said committee along with their meetings held/attended is as follows:
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(1) Appointed as chairman of the committee w.e.f. 30.05.2019 (change in designation 
from member to chairman).

(2) Ceased to be a Member of the committee w.e.f. 07.05.2019 due to cessation from 
directorship

(3) Ceased to be a member of the committee w.e.f. 27/11/2019 due to resignation.

(4) Appointed as chairman of the committee w.e.f. 14/02/2020

Note:  The Stakeholder's Relationship committee has been re-constituted w.e.f. February 14, 
2020 with composition; Mr. Manoj Sharma (Chairman), Mr. Madhusudan Prasad Kejriwal 
(Member) and Mrs. Amita Poddar (Member).

11. DECLARATION BY INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR'S UNDER SUB SECTION (6) OF 

SECTION 149

All the Independent Directors have given their declarations under section 149 (6) and section 149 
(7) of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Rules made thereunder. In the opinion of the Board, the 
Independent Directors fulfill the conditions relating to their status as an Independent Director as 
specified in section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with rules made thereunder as well as 
Regulation 16(b) of Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (including any statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) 
thereof for the time being in force).

12. FORMAL ANNUAL EVALUATION

The Act and SEBI Regulations have mandated the need to ensure effectiveness of the Board 
governance and require a statement indicating the manner in which formal annual evaluation has 
been carried out by the Board of its own performance and that of its Committees and individual 
directors.

The Company has devised a Policy for performance evaluation of Independent Directors, Board, 
Committees and other individual Directors which include criteria for performance evaluation of 
the non-executive directors and executive directors. 

The Company is availing services of professionals for looking at the best practices prevalent in the 
industry and advising with respect to evaluation of board members. On the basis of 
recommendations of the professionals and the policy for performance evaluation of Independent 
Directors, Board, Committees and other individual directors, a process of evaluation was followed 
by the board for its own performance and that of its committees and individual directors. 

13. MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS AFFECTING FINANCIAL POSITION 

BETWEEN THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR AND DATE OF THE REPORT

There was no material changes and no commitment made by the directors affecting financial 
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position of the company between the end of the Financial Year and date of report except following: 

1. During the Financial Year the company has sold out its Factory land situated at G-
60-62 & 67-69, JAITPURA INDUSTRIAL ESTATE JAIPUR-303704 (RAJ) and shifted 
its Factory premises to RIICO Industrial Aera, Manpura Machedi, Tehsil Ajmer, 
Delhi Buypass Road, Jaipur-303805, Rajasthan.

2. During the Financial Year the company has shifted its Registered office form G-60-
62 & 67-69, JAITPURA INDUSTRIAL ESTATE JAIPUR-303704 (RAJ) to B-5, 
Vrindavan Apartments, Vrindavan Vihar, King's Road, Jaipur-302019 (Raj.) 

3. GLOBAL PANDEMIC- COVID-19 IMPACT

The World Health Organization declared a global pandemic of the Novel Coronavirus 
disease (COVID-19) on February 11, 2020. In enforcing social distancing to contain 
the spread of the disease, our offices and client offices all over the world have been 
operating with minimal or no staff for extended periods of time. To effectively 
respond to and manage our operations through this crisis, the Company triggered 
its business continuity management program, chaired by the Chief Operating 
Officer. In keeping with its employee-safety first approach, the Company quickly 
instituted measures to trace all employees and be assured of their well-being.

In the last month of FY 2019-2020, the COVID-19 pandemic developed rapidly into a 
global crisis, forcing governments to enforce lock-downs of all economic activity. For 
the Company, the focus immediately shifted to ensuring the health and well-being of 
all employees, and on minimizing disruption to services for all our customers. From 
working in the factory premise where there is accommodating of thousands of 
employees, the switch to work from home for employees all over was carried out 
seamlessly. As of March 31, 2020, work from home was enabled to close to 90 
percent of the employees to work remotely and securely.

Although there are uncertainties due to the pandemic and reversal of the positive 
momentum gained in the last quarter of FY 2019-20, the financial position, 
liquidity, profitability of the Company well to navigate the challenges ahead and gain 
market share.

The recent outbreak of Covid-19 has not only caused economic slowdown across the 
globe, but also resulted in closure of non-essential services and prolonged lockdown 
scenarios. The company promptly responded to this global pandemic and ensured 
well-being of its employees and stakeholders.

COVID-19 is significantly impacting business operation of the companies, by way of 
unavailability of personnel, closure / lockdown of production facilities etc. The 
Production work of the Company was impacted due to the shutdown of factories and 
offices following the lockdown imposed by State/Central Government w.e.f. March 
23, 2020 and the company resumed back its operations gradually since May 11, 
2020 after obtaining necessary permissions from concerned government/local 
authorities and adopting an employee safety first approach.

Measures for curbing the spread of virus across the organization includes social 
distancing, mask distributions, issuing guidelines, travel bans, thermal screening, 
work from home and regular sanitization at all offices and sites. The company also 
contributed towards the community and the nation by extending its support for 
major relief funds and initiating distribution of food packets/meals, sanitizers, 
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masks, gloves, PPE kits, etc. to the underprivileged sector during this 
unprecedented crisis. The company also emphasized on 'vocal for local' by engaging 
local labours and subcontractors across its various sites as and when required.

14. AUDITOR'S OF THE COMPANY:

•  STATUTORY AUDITOR

At the 32nd Annual General Meeting of the company held on September 29th, 2017, the 
shareholders   had approved the appointment of M/s H.C. Garg & Co., Chartered Accountants, 
Jaipur , having FRN 000152C as Statutory Auditor of the Company for a term of Five consecutive 
years commencing from the conclusion of the 32nd Annual General Meeting of the Company till 
the conclusion of the 37th Annual general Meeting to be held in the year 2022 subject to the 
ratification by the shareholders every year, if so required under law. Pursuant to the recent 
amendment to section 139 of the Act to the effective May 7, 2018, ratification by shareholders 
every year for the appointment of the Statutory Auditors is no longer required and accordingly the 
Notice of ensuing Annual General Meeting does not include the proposal for seeking Shareholders 
approval for ratification of Statutory Auditors appointment.  

M/s H.C. Garg & Co., Chartered Accountants, Jaipur , having FRN 000152C has furnished a 
certificate of their eligibility and consent under Section 139 and 141 of the Act and the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules 2014 for their continuance as the Auditors of the Company for the FY 
2019-20. In terms of the Listing Regulations, the Auditors have confirmed that they hold a valid 
certificate issued by the Peer Review Board of the ICAI.

The Statutory Auditors of the Company have submitted Auditors' Report on the Financial 
Statements (standalone and consolidated) of the Company for the Financial Year ended 31st 
March, 2019. The Company is generally regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues in 
respect of provident fund, employees state insurance, income tax and goods and service tax 
though there has been slight delay in few cases and is regular in depositing undisputed statutory 
dues in respect of professional tax, as applicable with the appropriate authorities.

Further the Company is taking necessary steps to ensure the compliance/timely payment of 
statutory dues.

STATUTORY AUDITOR'S REPORT

The qualification/observation of the Auditor's given in the Auditor's Report are self-explanatory 
and have been explained/ clarified, wherever necessary, in the notes to the Financial Statements 
except as under:-

1. Gratuity has not been provided as per Actuary Valuation given as per Ind AS 19 
("Employee Benefits")

2. The Company has given Loans and Advances amounting to ?  625.61 Lakhs are 

subject to Confirmation and Reconciliation. 

3. Sundry Balance of Debtors and Creditors are subject to Confirmation and 
Reconciliation.

4. According to the book and records as produced and examined by us in accordance 
with generally accepted auditing practices in India and also based on management 
representation, undisputed statutory dues including provident fund, Employess, 
state Insurance Dues, Income Tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, Custom Duty, Excise 
Duty, VAT, Goods & Service Tax, w.e.f. 01.07.2017 Cess and Other material 
Statutory dues have generally not been regularly deposited by the Company during 
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the year with the appropriate authorities in India. According to the information and 
explanation given to us undisputed amounts payable in respect of the aforesaid 
dues were outstanding as at MARCH 31ST, 2020 for a period of more than six month 
from the date of becoming payable . 

5. According to the information and explanation given to us and the record of the 
Company examined by us, there have been to disputed dues which have not been 
deposited with respective authorities in respect of Income Tax, Service Tax, Duty of 
custom, Duty of Excise and VAT, Goods & Service Tax, w.e.f. 01.07.2017 as March 
31,2020.

REPLY BY MANAGEMENT ON AUDITORS QUALIFIED OPINON:

1. In respect of the Auditor's observation regarding Gratuity Liability has been 
calculated on estimated basis and not as per Actuarial Valuation which is required 
as per Ind AS 19. It is submitted that the company is calculate Gratuity Liability on 
cash basis as per company's policy.

2. For point no 2 and 3 it is hereby submitted that the company has duly given 
confirmation letter to all the person from whom confirmation is awaited and will be 
given to Auditor as and when received from the concern person

3. For point no 4 and 5 it is hereby submitted that your management has tried best 
care in payment of statutory dues, but sometimes it could not possible on time, due 
to some unavoidable reasons, but your board ensure you that it will be taken care 
properly.

• SECRETARIAL AUDITOR 

As per Section 204 of Companies Act, 2013 read with Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, every Listed Company is required to appoint 
Secretarial Auditor to carry out secretarial Audit of the Company. 

In consonance with the requirements of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 and rules made 
there under, M/s ATCS & Associates, Company Secretaries in Practice, Jaipur, was appointed to 
conduct the secretarial audit of the Company for the financial year 2019-20.

SECRETARIAL AUDITOR'S REPORT

A Secretarial Audit Report issued by M/s ATCS & Associates, Company Secretaries in Practice, in 
respect of the secretarial audit of the Company for the financial year ended 31st March, 2020, is 
given in ANNEXURE III to this Report and it carries the following qualifications: 

i. Hundred percent Shareholding of promoter(s) and promoter(s) group is not in 
dematerialized form as required under Regulation 31 of Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015.

ii. During the period under review Quarterly Results for the Quarter Ended 
31.03.2019, 30.06.2019 and 30.09.2019 has been submitted to BSE with a delay of 
117 days, 77 days and 1 day respectively, for which notice of penalty was received 
and the same has been deposited by the company as per SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015

iii. Further During the Financial Year Company has not transferred its shares which 
are lying in unpaid dividend account since last seven year to IEPF account.
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iv. The Board of the Company was duly constituted at the beginning of the financial 
year but due to resigning of one Independent Director on 07.05.2019 and filing his 
vacancy after 3 months on 14.02.2020 it was not duly constituted between this 
period and by virtue of this, Composition of Audit Committee and Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee was not as per the Provisions of Companies Act and as 
per the regulation of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015.

In respect of above stated qualifications, your Directors would like to clarify that: 

i. Total Promoter's Shareholding is 64.02%. Out of these, only 1.001% shareholding is 
not in Demat Form. The Company has already sent a mail to the Promoter(s) 
regarding conversion of physical shares to Demat Shares but the Promoter has not 
provided us the PAN and other details for conversion of the same. However the 
shareholding of the promoters is under process of dematerialization. 

ii. The company was fall in the ambit of preparation of its Financial Statements 
according to Indian Accounting Standards. It took more time to prepare and finalize 
the Quarterly Financial Statements times for quarter ended 31.03.2019, 
30.06.2019 and 30.09.2019. Due to that, the delay occur and it will be taken care 
further.

iii. Due to old records and taking details from bank and RTA it was time consuming and 
reconciliation of the same with RTA it is taking time and company is in process to 
transferred the shares in due process. 

iv. After resigning directors company has started the process of inducting one new 
Independent Director to fill the causal vacancy but due to financial crises problem of 
the company,  company was unable to appoint the same but before closing of 
financial year company found suitable person and appointed him as an 
Independent Director on 14.02.2020.

• COST AUDITOR

The requirement of Cost Audit in your industry has been excluded/ removed in The Companies 
(Cost Records and Audit) Rules, 2014, issued by the Ministry of Corporate Affairs vide its 
notification dated 30th June, 2014. Therefore, no appointment was made of the Cost Auditor to 
carry out the Cost Audit for the financial year ended 31st March, 2020 and there is no requirement 
of maintenance of cost records as per section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013.

• INTERNAL AUDITOR

M/s Varma Prashant & Associates, Chartered Accountant, Jaipur was appointed to conduct 
Internal Audit of the company for the financial year 2019-20 as required under Section 138 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and Rules thereunder and the Board of Director has re-appointed M/s 
Varma Prashant & Associates, Chartered Accountant, Jaipur is appointed to conduct Internal 
Audit of the company for the financial year 2019-20. 

15. HUMAN RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT

The Company recognizes that its employees are its principal assets and that it's continued growth 
is dependent upon the ability to attract and retain quality people. The Company also recognizes 
the importance of providing training and development opportunities to its people to enhance their 
skills and experiences, which in turn enables the company to achieve its business objectives. The 
morale of employees continued to remain high during the year contributing positively to the 
progress of the Company. However aspirations of employees in India remain to be high. This is a 
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challenge as only growth can fulfill these aspirations and in today's market scenarios one has to 
perform extraordinarily to achieve growth.     

The Company has always provided a congenial atmosphere for work to all sections of the society. 
Your Company is committed to respect universal human rights. To that end, the Company 
practices and seeks to work with business associates who believe and promote these standards. 
The Company is committed to provide equal opportunities at all levels, safe and healthy 
workplaces and protecting human health and environment. The Company provides opportunities 
to all its employees to improve their skills and capabilities. The Company's commitment extends 
to its neighboring communities to improve their educational, cultural, economic and social well-
being. Your Company is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate on the grounds 
of race, religion, nationality, ethnic origin, color, gender, age, citizenship, sexual orientation, 
marital status or any disability not affecting the functional requirements of the position held.

16. CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBLITY

Our key Strategy for Corporate Social Responsibility is to mobilize core competencies and 
resources of business, public organizations and Government Institutions to facilitate their 
working in partnership on projects that benefit communities. We also feel strongly about giving 
back to our community. We believe everybody deserves to be treated with dignity and respect, 
regardless of their personal circumstances, and offered the skills, knowledge and assistance they 
need to help themselves lead healthy and productive lives. 

The Directors of the Company are pleased to inform you that although the provision of Section 135 
of the Companies Act 2013 is not applicable on the company.

17. DELISTING OF EQUITY SHARES

The members have passed a special resolution in the Annual General Meeting of Company held on 
10th July, 2004 permitting the Company to delist its shares from the regional stock exchanges of 
Jaipur, Delhi, Calcutta, and Ahmedabad.

As on date, out of the above-stated four stock exchanges, the equity shares of the Company have 
been delisted from the Delhi, Ahmedabad and Jaipur Stock Exchanges. Delisting application of 
the Company is still pending with the Calcutta Stock Exchange Association Ltd., since December 
2004. Inspite of several reminders, the Company did not get any response from the exchange in 
the matter of the delisting status.

18. INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARY/ JOINT VENTURE/ ASSOCIATE COMPANY

The Company has 1 (one) subsidiary Company (i.e. Mayur Global Private Limited)  with effect from 
July 21, 2017 by virtue of the provisions of Section 2(87) of the Companies Act, 2013.  Mayur 
Global Private Limited is a Footwear Manufacturing company established to fulfill the export 
demand of leather Footwear.

There has been no material change in the nature of the business of the subsidiaries. Pursuant to 
Section 129 (3) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5 of the Companies (Accounts) 
Rules,2014 a Statement containing salient features of the financial statements of 
Subsidiaries/Associate Companies/Joint Ventures is given in Annexure IV in Form AOC-1 and 
forms an integral part of this Annual Report.

Further, pursuant to the provisions of Section 136 of the Act, the financial statements of the 
Company, consolidated financial statements along with relevant documents and separate audited 
financial statements in respect of subsidiaries, are available on the website of the Company.
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19. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY

Your Company has an elaborate Risk Management procedure, which is based on three pillars: 
Business Risk Assessment, Operational Controls Assessment and Policy Compliance processes. 
Major risks identified by the businesses and functions are systematically addressed through 
mitigating actions on a continuing basis. Some of the identified risks relate to competitive 
intensity and cost volatility. 

To sustain and grow in global market one must be ready for some level of uncertainty. Greater the 
uncertainty, higher the risk. The risk management function is integral to the Company and its 
objectives include ensuring that critical risks are identified, continuously monitored and 
managed effectively in order to protect the Company's business. The Company operates in an 
environment which is affected by various factors some of which are controllable while some are 
outside the control of the company. The Company proactively takes reasonable steps to identify 
and monitor the risk and makes efforts to mitigate significant risks that may affect it. Some of the 
risks that are potentially significant in nature and need careful monitoring are listed here under:

• Macroeconomic Factors

• Political Factors

• Product portfolio

• Competition from product launches

• Talent acquisition & retention

• Continuance and growth of channel partners

• High dependence on suppliers

• Geographic concentration

• Changes in government policy and legislation

• Chinese Competition

• Raw Material Price Increase

• Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

20. INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS

The Company has identified and documented all key internal financial controls, which impact the 
financial statements. The financial controls are tested for operating effectiveness through ongoing 
monitoring and review process of the management and independently by the Internal Auditors. In 
our view the Internal Financial Controls, affecting the financial statements are adequate and are 
operating effectively.

21. MANAGEMENT DICUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT

A detailed report on the Management Discussion and Analysis is provided as a separate section in 
the Annual Report which forms part of the Board's Report as ANNEXURE VII.

22. DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

Pursuant to the requirement under Section 134(3)(c) of the Companies Act, 2013 (including any 
statutory modification(s) or re-enactment(s) thereof for the time being in force), with respect to 
Directors' Responsibility Statement, your Directors confirm that:
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a) In the preparation of the annual accounts for the year ended March 31, 2020, the 
applicable accounting standards read with requirements set out under Schedule III 
to the Act, have been followed and there are no material departures from the same;

b) The Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently 
and made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2020 and of 
the profit of the Company for the year ended on that date;

c) The Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the 
assets of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities;

d) The Directors have prepared the annual accounts on a 'going concern' basis;

e) The Directors have laid down internal financial controls to be followed by the 
Company and that such internal financial controls are adequate and are operating 
effectively; and

f) The Directors have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions 
of all applicable laws and that such systems are adequate and operating effectively.

23. PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

In accordance with Section 178 and other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 read 
with the Rule 6 of the Companies (Meeting of Boards and its Powers) Rules, 2014 issued there 
under, the Board of Director formulated the Nomination and Remuneration Policy of your 
Company on the recommendations of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

The information required under Section 197 of the Act read with the Rule 5(1) & Rule 5(2) of the 
Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014 in respect of 
Directors/employees of your Company is set out in Annexure VI.

Apart from that, there are no employees in the company whose particulars are required to be 
disclosed in the Report.

24. PARTICULARS OF LOANS GIVEN, INVESTMENTS MADE, GUARANTEES GIVEN AND 

SECURITIES PROVIDED

Pursuant to the provisions of section 186 of the Companies Act and Schedule V of the SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations 2014, Particulars of loans given, investments made, guarantees given and securities 
provided along with the purpose for which the loan or guarantee or security is proposed to be 
utilized by the recipient are provided in Financial Statement. During the financial year under 
review no such transaction were done by the company to report here in terms of section 186 of the 
Act, read with the rules issued thereunder.

25. CONTRACTS AND ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES

All related party transactions entered into during the financial year were on an arm's length basis 
and in the ordinary course of business. There are no material significant related party 
transactions made by the Company with Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial Personnel or other 
designated persons and their relatives which may have a potential conflict with the interest of the 
Company at large. Particulars of contracts or arrangements with related parties referred to 
Section 188(1) & Section 134(3) (h)  of the Companies Act, 2013, in the prescribed form AOC-2 is 
annexed herewith as Annexure V.
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A list of all related party transactions is placed before the Audit Committee as well as the Board of 
Directors. The Audit Committee has granted omnibus approval for related party transactions as 
per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, and SEBI (LODR) Regulations. The Board has also 
framed a policy on related party transactions and the same is available on the Company's website, 
i.e. www.mayurgroups.com.

Your Directors draw attention of the members to Note 39 to the financial statement which sets out 
related party disclosures.

26. VIGIL MECHANISM / WHISTLE BLOWER POLICY

The Board of Directors has formulated a Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism which is in 
compliance with the provisions of Section 177 (10) of the Companies Act, 2013.

The Company's Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism encourages Directors and employees to 
bring to the Company's attention, instances of unethical behavior, actual or suspected incidents 
of fraud or violation of the Code of Conduct that could adversely impact the Company's operations, 
business performance and / or reputation. The Policy provides that the Company investigates 
such incidents, when reported, in an impartial manner and takes appropriate action to ensure 
that requisite standards of professional and ethical conduct are always upheld. It is the 
Company's Policy to ensure that no employee is victimized or harassed for bringing such incidents 
to the attention of the Company. The practice of the Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism is 
overseen by the Audit Committee and no employee has been denied access to the Committee. The 
Whistleblower Policy is available on the Company's corporate website www.mayurgroups.com.

27. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Corporate Governance requirements as stipulated under the Regulation of SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations, 2015 is not applicable to the company. Thus, the company has filed the non 
applicability certificate to the exchange for regulation 15 (2) read with regulation 27(2) of SEBI 
(LODR) Regulations, 2015 certified by the compliance Officer of the company. 

28. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION & FOREIGN EXCHANGE 

EARNINGS AND OUTGO

The information required to be disclosed pursuant to Section 134(3)(m) of the companies act, 
2013 read with Rule 8 of companies (Accounts) Rules,2014, the particulars of technology 
absorption and foreign exchange earnings and outgo is provided as under.

• CONSERVATION OF ENERGY

The company is undertaking regular periodic energy conservation measures:-
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• RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT / TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION

Company continued to give utmost importance to the R&D activities. The Company has its own in-
house well-developed Research and Development division. The objective of the Company through 
continuous Research and Development activities is the introduction of cost effective, state-of-art-
products with enhanced life and to increase the production capacity. The Company's Laboratory 
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and R&D division is continuously working towards new developments and keeps pace with the 
latest developments in high tech areas. During the year company has spend Rs. 4,19,644.90 
(previous year Rs. 2,13,885.90) on R & D expenditure, which is debited in financial books.

• FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNING AND OUTGO

Activities relating to exports; initiatives taken to increase exports, development of new 

export markets for product and services; and export plans:

The Company is engaged in the manufacture and export of leather safety shoes and shoe uppers. 
The majority sale is through exports. Due to the economic slowdown, the export market of the 
regular products has been badly affected. This is being countered by two activities: -

è Re-align fresh business from existing customers with new products.

è Develop an Indian Market Network.

Hopefully the results should start showing within the next six months. It is our endeavor to fight 
the worldwide recession.

                                          (Amount in Rs. Lacs)

29. RECONCILIATION OF SHARE CAPITAL AUDIT REPORT

Audit to reconcile the total admitted capital with National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) or 
Central Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) and the total issued and listed capital. This 
audit is carried out every quarter and the report thereon is submitted to the Stock Exchanges 
where the Company's shares are listed. The audit confirms that the total Listed and Paid-up 
Capital is in agreement with the aggregate of the total number of shares in dematerialised form 
(held with NSDL or CDSL) and total number of shares in physical form. 

30. CODE OF CONDUCT

Your Company is committed to conducting its business in accordance with the applicable laws, 
rules and regulations and highest standards of business ethics. In recognition thereof, the Board 
of Directors has implemented a Code of Conduct for adherence by the Directors, Senior 
Management Personnel and Employees of the Company. The Code of Conduct is dealing with 
ethical issues and also foster a culture of accountability and integrity. The Code in accordance 
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with the requirements of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015 has been posted on the Company's 
website    All the Board Members and Senior Management Personnel have 
confirmed compliance with the Code.

31. CONFLICT OF INTERESTS:

Each Director informs the Company on an annual basis about the Board and the Committee 
positions he occupies in other companies including Chairmanships and notifies changes during 
the year. The Members of the Board while discharging their duties, avoid conflict of interest in the 
decision making process. The Members of Board restrict themselves from any discussions and 
voting in transactions in which they have concern or interest.

32. DISCLOSURE IN REFERENCE OF SUB RULE 1 CLAUSE (C) SUB CLAUSE (VIII) OF 

RULE 2 OF COMPANIES (ACCEPTANCE OF DEPOSITS) RULES 2014

During the period under review the Company has not accepted loan/borrowing from its Director.

33. PREVENTION OF SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE

Your Company is an equal opportunity provider and believes in providing opportunity and key 
positions to women professionals. At the same time, it has been an endeavor of the Company to 
support women professionals through a safe, healthy and conducive working environment by 
creating and implementing proper policies to tackle issues relating to safe and proper working 
conditions for them. The company has complied with provisions relating to the constitution of 
Internal Complaints Committee under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace 
(Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013 As per the provisions of the Sexual Harassment 
of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013, the report on the 
details of the number of cases filed under Sexual Harassment and their disposal, during the year 
2020 is as under: 

34. PROHIBITION OF INSIDER TRADING

With a view to regulate trading in securities by the directors and designated employees, the 
Company has adopted a Code of Conduct for Prohibition of Insider Trading.

35. INVESTOR GRIEVANCE REDRESSAL

As per regulation 13 of SEBI (Listing Obligation & disclosure Requirements), Regulations 2015 the 
number of complaints received and resolved to the satisfaction of investors during the year under 
review. There were no pending complaint or share transfer cases as on 31st March, 2020, as per 
the certificate given by RTA. 

36. MEETINGS OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

The Company's Independent Directors meet at least once in every financial year without the 
presence of Executive Directors or management personnel. Such meetings are conducted 
informally to enable Independent Directors to discuss matters pertaining to the Company's affairs 
and put forth their views to the Lead Independent Director.

During the year under review, the independent directors met on 06.05.2019 inter alia, to discuss:

• Evaluation of the performance of Non-independent Directors and the Board of 

www.mayurgroups.com
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Directors as a whole.

• Evaluation of the performance of the chairman of the Company, taking into account 
the views of the Executive and Non- Executive directors.

• Evaluation of the quality, content and timeliness of flow of information between the 
management and the board that is necessary for the board to effectively and 
reasonably perform its duties.

• Review the mechanism of safeguard the interests of all Stakeholders.

37. UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND

Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, read with the IEPF Authority 
(Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules 2016 ('the Rules'), all unpaid or unclaimed 
Dividend are required to be transferred by the Company to the IEPF established by the Central 
Government, after the completion of Seven years. Further, according to the Rules, the share in 
respect of which dividend has not been paid or claimed by the shareholders for seven consecutive 
years or more shall also be transferred to the Demat Account created by the IEPF Authority. 
Accordingly, the company has transferred the unclaimed and unpaid dividends. Further the 
corresponding share will be transferred as per the requirement of the IEPF Rules, details of which 
are provided on our website, at wwe.mayurgroups.com.

Section 124 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Investor Education and Protection Fund 
Authority (Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules 2016 ('the Rules') mandates that 
companies transfer dividend that has remained unclaimed for a period of seven years from the 
unpaid dividend account to the Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF). Further, the rules 
mandate the transfer of shares with respect to the dividend, which has not been paid or claimed 
for Seven Consecutive Years or more to IEPF. Accordingly, the dividend for the years mentioned as 
follows will be transferred to the IEPF on the respective dates if the dividend remains unclaimed for 
seven years, and the corresponding shares will also be transferred to IEPF if dividend as 
unclaimed for seven Consecutive Years.

The Company sends periodic intimation to the concerned Shareholders, advising them to lodge 
their claim with respect to unclaimed dividends, Shareholders may note that both the unclaimed 
Dividend and corresponding shares transferred to IEPF including all benefits, accruing on such 
shares, if any, can be claimed back from IEPF, following the procedure prescribed in the Rules. No 
Claim shall be in respect thereof with the Company.

During the year under review, the Company has credited Rs. 98090 for unpaid dividend of the year 
2011-12(Final Dividend) to the Investor Education and Protection Fund (IEPF) pursuant to 
Section 205C of the Companies Act, 1956 read with the Investor Education and Protection Fund 
(Awareness and Protection of Investors) Rules, 2001.

Pursuant to the provisions of Investor Education and Protection Fund (Uploading of information 
regarding unpaid and unclaimed amounts lying with companies) Rules, 2012, the Company has 
uploaded the details of unpaid and unclaimed amounts lying with the Company as on 29th 
September, 2018 (date of last Annual General Meeting) on the Company's website 
www.mayurgroups.com and on the website of the Ministry of Corporate Affairs.

38. SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS PASSED BY REGULATORS OR COURTS

In pursuance to Rule 8 (5) (vii) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, No significant or material 
orders were passed by the Regulators or Courts or Tribunals impacting the going concern status 
and company's operations in future.
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39. GENERAL

Your Directors state that no disclosure or reporting is required in respect of the following items as 
there were no transactions on these items during the year under review:

1. Issue of equity shares with differential rights as to dividend, voting or otherwise.

2. Issue of shares (including sweat equity shares) to employees of the Company under 
any scheme.

3. The Company has complied with Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of 
Company Secretaries of India on Board and General Meetings.

4. There were no frauds found which have been reported to the Audit Committee / 
Board members as well as to the Central Government. Further, there was no fraud 
reported by auditors under section 143 (12) of the Companies Act, 2013.

40. SECRETARIAL STANDARDS

The Company has complied with Secretarial Standards issued by the Institute of Company 
Secretaries of India on board and general meetings. 

41. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Your Directors would like to express their appreciation for assistance and co-operation received 
from the Bankers, Central & State Government, Local Authorities, Clients, Vendors, Advisors, 
Consultants and Associates at all levels for their continued guidance and support. Your Directors 
also wish to place on record their deep sense of appreciation for their commitment, dedication and 
hard work put in by every member of the Company.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

                    MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE:  JAIPUR                           Sd/-              Sd/-

DATE:  01.09.2020                       R.K. PODDAR           AMITA PODDAR

      Director & CEO           Chairperson & Director

  DIN: 00143571                  DIN: 00143486

th35  ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2038



th35  ANNUAL REPORT 2019-20 39



 IV. Shareholding Pattern (Equity Share capital Break up as % to total Equity)

(i) Category-Wise Share Holding
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(ii) Share Holding of Promoters

* Percentage Calculated on the paid up Share Capital (48,34,800 Shares) as at the beginning and 
end of the year.

(iii) Change in Promoter's Shareholding (please specify, if there is no change)

th35  ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2042



11
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 * Percentage Calculated on the paid up Share Capital (48,34,800 Shares) as at the beginning and 
end of the year.

(iv) Shareholding Pattern of top ten Shareholders(other than Directors, Promoters and 

Holders of GDRs & ADRs)
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 * Percentage Calculated on the paid up Share Capital (48,34,800 Shares) as at the beginning and 
end of the year.

(V) Shareholding of Directors and Key Managerial Personnel:

11
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 Notes: 

1.  Percentage Calculated on the paid up Share Capital (48,34,800 Shares) as at the beginning 
and end of the year.

2. KMP as defined under section 2 (51) of the Companies Act, 2013

3. KMP as defined under IND AS 24, Related Party Disclosure, appointed by the Board

4. The Following Directors and KMP did not hold shares during Fiscal 2020:

      a) Mr. Rajesh Gupta - Non Executive Director (Resigned as on 27.11.2019)

        b) Ms. Madhusudan Prasad Kejriwal - Independent Director 

       c) Ms. Divya Kalra - Independent Director (Appointed as on 01.06.2018 and resigned 
as on 07.05.2019)   

         d) Mr. Dinesh Chand - Chief Financial Officer (Appointed as on 20.04.2018 and 
resigned as on 09.09.2019)   

         e) Ms. Heena Lakhani - Company Secretary (Appointed as on 01.06.2018 and resigned 
as on 13.02.2020)   

f) Ms. Ashwarya Poddar - Non-Executive Director (Appointed as on 29.01.2020)

g) Mr. Ankit Sharma - Company Secretary (Appointed as on 14.02.2020)

h) Mr. Manoj Sharma - Independent Director (Appointed as on 14.02.2020)

i) Mr. Akhilesh Poddar - Chief Financial Officer (Appointed as on 17.09.2019) holding 
256950 shares of the Company before his Appointment.

11
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V. INDEBTEDNESS

VI. REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

A. Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole time director and/or Manager:
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B. Remuneration to other directors:

• Mr. Manoj Sharma - Independent Director (Appointed as on 14.02.2020

• Ms. Divya Kalra - Independent Director (resigned as on 07.05.2019)   

• Mr. Rajesh Gupta - Non Executive Director (Resigned as on 27.11.2019)

• Ms. Ashwarya Poddar - Non-Executive Director (Appointed as on 29.01.2020)
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C. REMUNERATION TO KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL OTHER THAN 

MD/MANAGER/WTD                                                                                   (In Lacs)

(i) Mr. Dinesh Chand - Chief Financial Officer (resigned as on 09.09.2019)

(ii)  Mr. Akhilesh Poddar - Chief Financial Officer (Appointed as on 17.09.2019)

VII. PENALTIES/PUNISHMENT/COMPPOUNDING OF OFFENCES

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

                    MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE:  JAIPUR                           Sd/-              Sd/-

DATE:  01.09.2020                       R.K. PODDAR           AMITA PODDAR

      Director & CEO           Chairperson & Director

  DIN: 00143571                  DIN: 00143486
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NOMINATION & REMUNERATION

POLICY

FOR

THE MEMBERS OF BOARD

AND

KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONEL

AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

PERSONEL

OF

MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED
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1. Preamble

a. Pursuant to section 178 of the companies act, 2013 and Regulation 19 of the SEBI 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and clause 49 
of the listing agreement, the board of directors of every listed company shall 
constitute the nomination and remuneration committee. The Company already 
constituted remuneration committee comprising of three non-executive 
independent directors as required under listing agreement. In order to align with the 
provisions of the companies act, 2013 and the amended listing agreement from time 
to time, the board on 30 May 2014 changed the nomenclature of the “selection & 
remuneration committee” as “nomination and remuneration committee” and 
reconstituted the committee with three non - executive independent directors as 
member of the committee. The Nomination & Remuneration committee presently 
comprises of three members i.e., Mr. Manoj Sharma (Chairman of the Committee, 
Mr. Madhusudan Prasad Kejriwal, and Mrs. Amita Poddar.

b. The remuneration policy provides a framework for remuneration paid to the 
members of the Board of Directors (“Board”), Key Managerial Personnel (“KMP”) and 
the Senior Management Personnel (“SMP”) of the Company (collectively referred to 
as “Executives”). 

c. The policy would be reviewed every year by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee of the Board of Directors.

2. Aims & Objectives:

The aims and objectives of this remuneration policy may be summarized as follows:

Ø That the level and composition of remuneration is reasonable and sufficient to 
attract, retain and motivate directors of the quality required to run the Company 
successfully.

Ø That the relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and meets 
appropriate performance benchmark.

Ø Remuneration to directors, key managerial personnel and senior management 
involves a balance between fixed and incentive pay reflecting short and long-term 
performance objectives appropriate to the working of the company and its goals.

3. Definition

• "Act" means the Companies Act, 2013 and Rules framed thereunder, as amended 
from time to time

•  "Board" means Board of Directors of the Company. 

• "Company" means "MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED".

• "Employees' Stock Option" means the option given to the directors, officer or 
employees of  a  company or of its holding company or subsidiary company or 
companies, if any,  which gives  such directors, officers or employees, the benefit or 
right to purchase, or to subscribe for, the shares of the company at a future date at a 
pre - determined price.

• "Independent Director" means a director referred to in Section 149 (6) of The 
Companies Act 2013.

• "Key Managerial Personnel" (KMP) means Chief Executive Officer or the Managing 
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Director or the Manager, Company Secretary, Whole-time Director, Chief Financial 
Officer and Such other officer, not more than one level below the directors who is in 
whole- time -employment, designated as  KMP by the Board and such other officer 
as may be prescribed.

• "Nomination and Remuneration Committee" shall mean a Committee of Board of 
Directors of the Company, constituted in accordance with the provisions of Section 
178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the Listing Agreement.

• "Policy or This Policy" means, "Nomination and Remuneration Policy."

• "Remuneration" means any money or its equivalent given or passed to any person 
for services rendered by him and includes perquisites as defined under the Income-
tax Act, 1961.

• "Senior Management" shall mean officers/personnel of the listed entity who are 
members of its core management team excluding board of directors and normally 
this shall comprise all members of management one level below the chief executive 
officer/managing director/whole time director/manager (including chief executive 
officer/manager, in case they are not part of the board) and shall specifically include 
Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer.

• "Regulation" refers to and comprise of Companies Act, 2013, The Companies 
(Meeting of Board and its Powers) Rules, 2014, The Companies (Appointment and 
Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014, The Companies (Appointment and 
Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, SEBI (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and such other rules and provisions as 
applicable to the matters dealt in by this Policy.

• Ministry means the Ministry of Corporate Affairs.

4. Interpretation: 

Terms that have not been defined in this Policy shall have the same meaning assigned to them in 
the Act, SEBI  (Listing  Obligations  and  Disclosure  Requirements)  Regulations,  2015  and/or  
any  other Regulation(s) as amended from time to time.

5.  Applicability:

This Policy is applicable to:

Ø Directors viz. Executive, Non-executive and Independent;

Ø Key Managerial Personnel;

Ø Senior Management Personnel;

Ø Other Employees of the Company.

This Remuneration Policy shall also apply to all future / continuing employment/ engagement(s) 
with the Company. In other respects, the Remuneration Policy shall be of guidance for the Board. 
Any departure from the policy shall be recorded and reasoned in the Committee and Board 
meeting minutes

6.      Composition of Committee, Chairman, and Secretary:

Ø The Committee shall consist of at least 3 members and all members of the 
Committee shall be non-Executive Directors out of which at least fifty percent of the 
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directors shall be independent directors;

Ø Secretary to the Board of Directors of the Company shall act as Secretary to the 
Committee; 

Ø Chairman of the Committee shall be an Independent Director;

Ø Chairperson of the Company may be appointed as a member of the Committee but 
shall not Chair the Committee;

Ø In the absence of the Chairman, the members of the Committee present at the 
meeting shall choose one amongst them to act as Chairman;

Ø Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee meeting may be present 
at the Annual General Meeting or may nominate some other member to answer the 
shareholders' queries. 

Ø The quorum for the Meeting of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee shall 
either be two members or one third of the total strength of the Committee, whichever 
is higher (including at least one independent director in attendance).

7. Frequency of Meetings:

The meeting of the Committee shall be held ATLEAST ONCE IN A YEAR.

8. Committee Members Interests:

Ø A member of the Committee is not entitled to be present when his or her own 
remuneration is discussed at a meeting or when his or her performance is being 
evaluated;

Ø The Committee may invite such executives, as it considers appropriate, to be 
present at the meetings of the Committee

9. Voting:

Ø Matters arising for determination at Committee meetings shall be decided by a 
majority of votes of Members present and voting and any such decision shall for all 
purposes be deemed a decision of the Committee;

Ø In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman of the meeting will have a casting vote.

10.   Appointment and Removal of Director, KMP and Senior Management:

Appointment Criteria and qualifications:

Ø The Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity, qualification, expertise and 
experience of the person for appointment as Director, KMP or at Senior Management 
level and recommend to the Board his / her appointment.

Ø A person should possess adequate qualification, expertise and experience for the 
position he / she is considered for appointment. The Committee has discretion to 
decide whether qualification, expertise and experience possessed by a person are 
sufficient / satisfactory for the concerned position.

Ø The Company shall not appoint or continue the employment of any person as 
Managing Director/Whole-time Director/Manager who has attained the age of (70) 
seventy years. Provided that the term of the person holding this position may be 
extended beyond the age of seventy years with the approval of shareholders by 
passing a special resolution based on the explanatory statement annexed to the 
notice for such motion indicating the justification for extension of appointment 
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beyond seventy years.

Ø The Company shall take a prior approval of the Members by way of a Special 
Resolution for appointment / continuation of appointment of any Non-Executive 
Director who has attained the age of 75 (Seventy Five) years.

Ø No person shall be appointed or continue as an alternate director for an independent 
director of a listed entity 

Ø Appointment of Independent Directors is subject to compliance of provisions of 
Section 149 of the Act, read with Schedule IV and Rules there under.

11. Term / Tenure: 

A        Managing Director/Whole-time Director: 

The Company shall appoint or re-appoint any person as its Executive Chairman, 
Managing Director or Executive Director for a term not exceeding 5 (five) years at a 
time. No re-appointment shall be made earlier than 1 (one) year before the expiry of 
term.

B      Independent Director: 

i. An Independent Director shall hold office for a term up to 5 (five) consecutive years 
on the Board and will be eligible for re-appointment on passing of a special 
resolution by the Company and disclosure of such appointment in the Board's 
Report. 

ii. No Independent Director shall hold office for more than two consecutive terms, but 
such Independent Director shall be eligible for appointment after expiry of 3 (three) 
years of ceasing to become an Independent Director. Provided that an Independent 
Director shall not, during the said period of 3 (three) years, be appointed in or be 
associated with the Company in any other capacity, either directly or indirectly. 

iii. At the time of appointment of Independent Director(s) it should be ensured that 
number of Boards on which such Independent Director serves is restricted to 7 
(seven) listed companies as an Independent Director and three listed companies as 
an Independent Director in case such person is serving as a Whole-time Director of a 
listed company or such other number as may be prescribed under the Act or the 
SEBI Listing Regulations. 

iv An Independent Director should not be a non-independent director of another 
company on the board of which any non-independent director of our company is an 
independent director. 

C       Evaluation:

The Committee shall carry out evaluation of performance of every Director, KMP and 
Senior Management at regular interval (yearly).

12. Criteria for evaluation of Independent Director and the Board:

Following are the Criteria for evaluation of performance of Independent Directors and the Board:

Ø Executive Director: The Executive Directors shall be evaluated on the basis of 
targets / Criteria given to executive Directors by the Board from time to time.

Ø Non-Executive Director: The Non-Executive Directors shall be evaluated on the 
basis of the following criteria i.e.
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Whether they:

a) act objectively and constructively while exercising their duties;

b) exercise their responsibilities in a bona fide manner in the interest of the company;

c) devote sufficient time and attention to their professional obligations for informed 
and balanced decision making;

d) do not abuse their position to the detriment of the company or its shareholders or for 
the purpose of gaining direct or indirect personal advantage or advantage for any 
associated person;

e) refrain from any action that would lead to loss of his independence;

f) inform the Board immediately when they lose their independence;

g) assist the company in implementing the best corporate governance practices;

h)   strive to attend all meetings of the Board of Directors and the Committees;

i) participate constructively and actively in the committees of the Board in which they 
are chairpersons or members;

j)   strive to attend the general meetings of the company;

k) keep themselves well informed about the company and the external environment in 
which it operates;

l) do not to unfairly obstruct the functioning of an otherwise proper Board or 
Committee of the Board;

m) Moderate and arbitrate in the interest of the company as a whole, in situations of 
conflict between management and shareholder's interest;

n) Abide by Company's Memorandum and Articles of Association, company's policies 
and procedures including code of conduct, insider trading guidelines etc.

The evaluation of independent directors shall be done by the entire board of directors 
which shall include:- 

1.  performance of the directors; and 

2. fulfillment of the independence criteria as specified in these regulations and their 
independence from the management: 

Provided that in the above evaluation, the Directors who are subject to evaluation shall not 
participate.

D       Removal:

Due to reason of any disqualification mentioned in the Act or under any other                             
applicable Act, rules and regulation there under and as per the rules and code of 
conduct of the Company, the committee may recommended, to the Board with 
reason recorded in writing, removal of The Directors, KMPs and Senior Management 
Personal subject to the provisions and compliances of the said act, rules and 
regulations.

E         Retirement:

The Directors, KMPs and Senior Management Personal shall retire as per the 
applicable provisions of the Act and the prevailing policy of the Company. The Board 
will have the discretion to retain The Directors, KMPs and Senior Management 
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Personal in the same position /remuneration or otherwise even after attaining the 
retirement age, for the benefit of the company .

13. Role of Nomination and Remuneration Committee

1) The Selection and Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors shall be re-
named as Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

2) The Committee shall be responsible for:-

a. Formulating framework and/or policy for remuneration, terms of employment 
including service contracts, policy for and scope of pension arrangements, etc for 
Executives and reviewing it on a periodic basis.

b. Formulate the criteria for determining qualifications, positive attributes and 
independence of a director and recommend to the Board a policy, relating to the 
appointments and remuneration for the Director and executives.

c. Identifying persons who are qualified to become directors and who may be appointed 
as Executives in accordance with the criteria laid down in this policy, recommend to 
the Board their appointment and removal and carry out their evaluation. 

d.  To guide the Board in relation to appointment and removal of Directors, Key 
Managerial Personnel and Senior Management

e. Formulating terms for cessation of employment and ensure that any payments 
made are fair to the individual and the company, that failure is not rewarded and 
that the duty to mitigate loss is fully recognized.

f. Ensure that the level and compositions of remuneration is reasonable and 
sufficient, relationship of remuneration to performance is clear and meets 
appropriates performance benchmarks.

g. Devising a policy on board diversity

h. To perform such other functions as may be necessary or appropriate for the 
performances of its duties.

i. Whether to extend or continue the term of appointment of the independent director, 
on the basis of the report of performance evaluation of independent directors

3 The Committee shall:

i. Review the ongoing appropriateness and relevance of the remuneration policy;

ii. Ensure that all provisions regarding disclosure of remuneration, including 
pensions, are fulfilled;

iii. Obtain reliable, up-to-date information about remuneration in other companies;

iv. Ensure that no director or Executive is involved in any decisions as to their own 
remuneration.

4 Without prejudice to the generality of the terms of reference to the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee set out above, the Committee shall:

i. Operate the Company's share option schemes (if any) or other incentives schemes (if 
any) as they apply to. It shall recommend to the Board the total aggregate amount of 
any grants to employees (with the specific grants to individuals to be at the 
discretion of the Board) and make amendments to the terms of such schemes 
(subject to the provisions of the schemes relating to amendment);
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ii. Liaise with the trustee / custodian of any employee share scheme which is created 
by the Company for the benefit of employees or Directors and.

iii. Review the terms of executive Directors' service contracts from time to time.

14. Matters relating to the remuneration, perquisites for the Whole-time Director, KMP 

and Senior Management Personnel

Ø The remuneration/compensation/  profit-linked  commission  etc.  to  the  Whole  
Time  Director, Director and Independent Directors will be determined by the 
Committee and recommended to the Board for approval. 

Ø Increments  to  the  existing  remuneration/  compensation  structure  shall  be  
approved  by  the Committee. 

Ø Where any insurance is taken by the Company on behalf of its Whole-time Director, 
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or Company Secretary for 
indemnifying any of them against any liability, in respect of any negligence, default, 
misfeasance, breach of duty or breach of trust for which they may be guilty in 
relation to the company, the premium paid on such insurance shall not be treated as 
part of the remuneration payable to any such personnel.

(a) Remuneration to Non-Executive Directors:

The Non-executive Directors of the company are paid remuneration by way of sitting 
fees only for attending the meetings of the Board of Directors and its Committees. 
The sitting fees paid to the Non-executive Directors for attending meetings of Board 
of Directors and Committee of Board of Directors is Rs. 2,500/- per meeting shall 
not exceed the maximum amount as provided in the Companies Act, 2013 per 
meeting of the Board or Committee or such amount as may be prescribed by the 
Central Government from time to time.

If Remuneration to single Non-executive director exceeds 50% of total Non-executive 
director then approval of shareholders by special resolution shall be obtained every 
year.

Beside the sitting fees they are also entitled to reimbursement of expenses. The Non-
executive Directors of the Company are not paid any other remuneration or 
commission.

The sitting fees of the Non-executive Directors for attending meetings of Board of 
Directors and the Committees of Board of Directors may be modified or implemented 
from time to time only with the approval of the Board in due compliance of the 
provisions of Companies Act, 2013.

Stock Options:

Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, an Independent Director shall not be entitled 
to any stock option of the Company.

(b) Remuneration to Executive Directors, Key Managerial Personnel(s) (KMPs) & Senior 
Management Personnel (s) (SMPs):

The Company has a credible and transparent framework in determining and 
accounting for the remuneration of the Managing Director / Whole Time Directors 
(MD/WTDs), Key Managerial Personnel(s) (KMPs) and Senior Management 
Personnel(s) (SMPs). Their remuneration shall be governed by the external 
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competitive environment, track record, potential, individual performance and 
performance of the company as well as industry standards.

The break-up of the pay scale, performance bonus, and quantum of perquisites 
including employer's contribution to P.F, pension scheme, medical expenses, club 
fees etc shall be decided and approved by the Board on the recommendation of the 
Committee and shall be within the overall remuneration approved by the 
shareholders.

 The remuneration determined for MD/WTDs, KMPs and SMPs are subjected to the 
approval of the Board of Directors and Shareholders of the company in due 
compliance of the provisions of Companies Act, 2013. 

The remuneration and commission to be paid to the Managing Director and / or 
Whole-time Director shall be in accordance with the percentage / slabs / conditions 
laid down as per the provisions of the Act and SEBI Listing Regulations and any 
other laws, as may be applicable, for the time being in force .

The fees or compensation payable to executive directors who are promoters or 
members of the promoter group, shall be subject to the approval of the shareholders 
by special resolution if :- 

(1) The annual remuneration payable to such executive director exceeds rupees 5 crore 
or 2.5 per cent of the net profits of the listed entity, whichever is higher; 

(2) where there is more than one such director, the aggregate annual remuneration to 
such directors exceeds 5 per cent of the net profits of the listed entity .

The remuneration for the KMP and the SMP at the time of the appointment has to be 
approved by the Board but any subsequent increments shall be approved by the 
Managing Director of the Company as per the HR policy of the Company and ratified 
by the Board. As a policy, the Executive Directors are neither paid sitting fee nor any 
commission.

15. Approval and publication

i. This remuneration policy as framed by the Committee shall be recommended to the 
Board of Directors for its approval.

ii. This policy shall be hosted on the Company's website.

iii. The policy shall form part of Director's report to be issued by the Board of Directors 
in terms of Companies Act, 2013.

16. Supplementary provisions

a. This Policy shall formally be implemented from the date on which they are adopted 
pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors.

b. Any matters not provided for in this Policy shall be handled in accordance with 
relevant State laws and regulations and the Company's Articles of Association. If 
this Policy conflict with any laws or regulations subsequently promulgated by the 
state or with the Company's Articles of Association as amended pursuant to lawful 
procedure, the relevant state laws and regulations and the Company's Articles of 
Association shall prevail, and this Policy shall be amended in a timely manner and 
submitted to the Board of Directors for review and adoption.

c. The right to interpret this Policy vests in the Board of Directors of the Company.
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17. Deviations from the policy

Deviations on elements of this policy in extraordinary circumstances, when deemed 
necessary in the interest of the company, will be made if there are specific reasons to do so 
in an individual case.

Effective Date 14.02.2020

Approved by the board of Directors in their meeting held on 14.02.2020

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

                    MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE:  JAIPUR                           Sd/-              Sd/-

DATE:  01.09.2020                       R.K. PODDAR           AMITA PODDAR

      Director & CEO           Chairperson & Director

  DIN: 00143571                  DIN: 00143486
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Form No. MR-3 

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31st March, 2020

[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No.9 of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,

The Members,

Mayur Leather Products Limited

B-5, Vrindavan Apartments Vrindavan 

Vihar, King's Road Jaipur – 302019 (Raj.) 

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and 
the adherence to good corporate practices by Mayur Leather Products Limited (hereinafter called 
“the Company”). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis 
for evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our opinion 
thereon.

Based on our verification of the Company's books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed 
and other records maintained by the Company and also the information provided by the 
Company, its officers, agents and authorized representatives during the conduct of secretarial 
audit, we hereby report that in our opinion, the Company has, during the audit period covering the 
financial year ended on March 31, 2020 complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder 
and also that the Company has proper Board- processes and compliance-mechanism in place to 
the extent, in the manner and subject to the reporting made hereinafter:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed and other records 
maintained by the Company for the financial year ended on March 31, 2020 according to the 
provisions of:

(i) The Companies Act, 2013 ('the Act') and the rules made thereunder;

(ii) The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 ('SCRA') and the rules made thereunder;

(iii) The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder;

(iv) Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder 
to the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External 
Commercial Borrowings; (Not applicable to the Company during the Audit Period);

(v) The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India Act, 1992 ('SEBI Act'):-

(a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and 
Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;

(b) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) 
Regulations, 2015;

(c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2009; (Not applicable to the Company during the Audit 
Period)
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(d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits) 
Regulations, 2014; (Not applicable to the Company during the Audit Period)

(e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) 
Regulations, 2008; (Not applicable to the Company during the Audit Period)

(f) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share 
Transfer Agents) Regulations, 1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with 
client;

(g) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) 
Regulations, 2009; (Not applicable to the Company during the Audit Period)

(h) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback of Securities) Regulations, 
1998; (Not applicable to the Company during the Audit Period) and

(i) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015 and amendments thereof;

(vi) As confirmed by the management, there are no sector specific laws that are 
applicable specifically to the company.

We have also examined compliance with the applicable clauses of the following:

i. Secretarial Standards with regard to Meetings of Board of Directors (SS-1) and 
General Meetings (SS-2) issued by The Institute of Company Secretaries of India; 

ii. The  Listing  Agreements  entered  into  by the  Company  with  BSE  Ltd and CSE 
Ltd. 

During the period under review the Company has complied with the provisions of the Act, 
Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, Standards, etc. mentioned above subject to the following 
observations:

1. Hundred percent Shareholding of promoter(s) and promoter group is not in 
dematerialized form as required under Regulation 31 of Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015;

2. During the period under review Quarterly Results for the Quarter Ended 
31.03.2019, 30.06.2019 and 30.09.2019 has been submitted to BSE with a delay of 
117 days, 77 days and 1 day respectively, for which notice of penalty were received 
and the same has been deposited by the company as per SEBI (Listing Obligations 
and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015

3. Further During the Financial Year Company has not transferred its shares which 
are lying in unpaid dividend account since last seven year to IEPF account.

4. The Board of the Company was duly constituted at the beginning of the financial 
year but due to resigning of one Independent Director on 07.05.2019 and filing his 
vacancy after 3 months on 14.02.2020 it was not duly constituted between this 
period and by virtue of this, Composition of Audit Committee and Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee were not as per the Provisions of Companies Act and as 
per the regulation of SEBI (LODR) Regulations, 2015

We further report that

The Board of  Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive 
Directors, Non-Executive Directors and Independent Directors subject to our observation made 
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above. The changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that took place during the period 
under review were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act.

Adequate notice is given to all Directors to schedule the Board Meetings, agenda and detailed 
notes on agenda were sent at least seven days in advance, and a system exists for seeking and 
obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for 
meaningful participation at the meeting.

Majority decision is carried through while the dissenting members' views, if any, are captured and 
recorded as part of the minutes.

We further report that based on the information provided and the representation made by the 
Company and also on the review of the compliance certificates, in our opinion there are adequate 
systems and processes in the company commensurate with the size and operations of the 
company to monitor and ensure compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and 
guidelines.

We further report that the company has taken approval of shareholders for sell, lease or otherwise 
dispose off the immovable property of the company situated at G-60-62 & 67-69, JAITPURA 
INDUSTRIAL ESTATE JAIPUR-303704 (RAJ) and for shifting of Registered Office of the Company 
from G-60-62 & 67-69, JAITPURA INDUSTRIAL ESTATE JAIPUR-303704 (RAJ) to B-5, Vrindavan 
Apartments, Vrindavan Vihar, King's Road, Jaipur-302019 (Raj.), in the Annual General Meeting 
held on 18.11.2019. Apart from this during the audit period, the Company has not undertaken 
any events/actions having a major bearing on the company's affairs in pursuance of the above 
referred laws, rules, regulations, guidelines, standards, etc. referred to above.

Place: Jaipur                                                                       for ATCS & ASSOCIATES

Date:  01.09.2020                                                 Practicing Company Secretaries

                                                                               ICSI Unique Code P2017RJ063900

Sd/-

                                                                                                CS DEEPAK ARORA 

                          Partner 

          FCS 5104/ COP No. : 3641

                               UDIN: F005104B000642180

Note: This report is to be read with our letter of even date which is annexed as Annexure A and 
forms an integral part of this report.
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ANNEXURE 'A'

To, 

The Members

Mayur Leather Products Limited

Mayur Leather Products Limited

B-5, Vrindavan Apartments Vrindavan 

Vihar, King's Road Jaipur – 302019 (Raj.)

Our Report of even date is to be read along with this letter.

1. Maintenance of Secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the company. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Secretarial records based on our audit.

2. We have followed the Audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain 
reasonable assurance about the correctness of the contents of the Secretarial records. The 
verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are reflected in Secretarial 
records. We believe that the processes and practices, we followed provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

3. We have not verified the correctness and appropriateness of financial records and Books of 
Accounts of the company. We have relied upon the Report of Statutory Auditors regarding 
compliance of Companies Act, 2013 and Rules made thereunder relating to maintenance of 
Books of Accounts, papers and financial statements of the relevant Financial Year, which 
give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the company.

4. We have relied upon the Report of Statutory Auditors regarding compliance of Fiscal Laws, 
like the Income Tax Act, 1961 & Finance Acts, the Customs Act, 1962, the Central Excise 
Act, 1944 and Service Tax.

5. Where ever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the 
compliance of Laws, rules and regulations and happening of events etc.

6. The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, 
regulations, standards is the responsibility of management. Our examination was limited 
to the verification of procedures on test basis.

7. The Secretarial Audit report is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the 
company nor of the efficiency or effectiveness with which the management has conducted 
the affairs of the Company.    

Place: Jaipur                                                                       for ATCS & ASSOCIATES

Date: 01.09.2020                                                              Practicing Company Secretaries

                                                                                    ICSI Unique Code P2017RJ063900

                     

                                         SD/-

                                                                                               CS DEEPAK ARORA 

                                                                                                          Partner 

                                                                                              FCS 5104/ COP No. : 3641                               

                                                                                            UDIN: F005104B000642180
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Form AOC- I Annexure IV

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries/ associate 

companies / joint ventures as per the Companies Act 2013.

Part “A”: Subsidiaries

(Information in respect of each subsidiary to be presented with amounts in Rs.)

Notes: 

The following information shall be furnished at the end of the statement:

1. Names of subsidiaries which are yet to commence operations: NA

2. Names of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or sold during the year: NA

FOR MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

Date: 01.09.2020 Sd/              Sd/

Place: Jaipur                     R.K. PODDAR                             AMITA PODDAR

                                                (Director & CEO)                     (Chairperson & Director)                                                                                                                        

                                                 DIN: 00143571                              DIN: 00143486   

                                               Sd/                      Sd/

                                              AKHILESH PODDAR                    ANKIT SHARMA

                                            (Chief Financial Officer)              (Company Secretary)                                                                                                                        

                                                                                                M. No. ACS 57446
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ANNEXURE- V

PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENT WITH RELATED PARTIES

FORM No. AOC 2

(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosures of particulars of contracts/arrangement entered into by the company with 
related parties referred to in sub section(I) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including 
certain arm's length transactions under third proviso thereto:

1. Details of Contracts/Arrangements/Transactions not at arm's length basis: NOT 

APPLICABLE

2. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm's length basis (Rs. In Lacs) 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

                    MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE:  JAIPUR                           Sd/-              Sd/-

DATE:  01.09.2020                       R.K. PODDAR           AMITA PODDAR

      Director & CEO           Chairperson & Director

  DIN: 00143571                  DIN: 00143486
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ANNEXURE – VI

Particulars of employees

DISCLOSURE ON THE REMUNRATION OF THE MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

The information required under Section 197 of the Act read with Rule 5 of the Companies 
(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, are given below:

1. Ratio of Remuneration of Directors to Median Remuneration of Employee:

The ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median remuneration of the employees 
of the Company and percentage increase in remuneration of each Director, Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary in the financial year:

(Rs. In Lacs)
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The median remuneration of employees of the Company during the financial year was Rs. 2.14 
Lacs.

1. The percentage increase in the remuneration of each Director, Chief Financial Officer, 
Chief Executive  Officer, Company Secretary or Manager, if any in the financial year- 

CEO- 0.00%, CFO- 0.00%, CS- 1.67%.

2. The percentage increase in the median remuneration of employees in the financial year – 
4.38%. 

3. The number of permanent employees on the rolls of Company was 49 employees as on 
March 31, 2020

4. Average percentile increase already made in the salaries of employees other than 
managerial personnel in the last financial year and comparison with the percentile increase 
in the managerial remuneration and justification thereof and point out if there are any 
exceptional circumstances for increase in the managerial remuneration :-

-    Average increase in the remuneration of all employees excluding KMP's: Nil

-    Average decrease in the remuneration of KMP's: 4.46%

      -   Increase in salary is based on the Company's performance, individual performance, 
inflation, prevailing

industry trends and benchmarks.

5. The key parameters for any variable component of remuneration availed by the directors: -    
NA

6. It is hereby affirmed that the remuneration paid is as per the Remuneration Policy for 
Directors, Key Managerial Personnel and other Employees.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

                    MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE:  JAIPUR                           Sd/-              Sd/-

DATE:  01.09.2020                       R.K. PODDAR           AMITA PODDAR

      Director & CEO           Chairperson & Director

  DIN: 00143571                  DIN: 00143486
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DETAIL OF NAMES OF THE TOP TEN EMPLOYEES OF THE COMPANY IN TERMS OF 

REMUNERATION DRAWN

(As per rule 5(2) of the Companies (Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial personnel) 
Rules, 2014)

Top 10 employees in terms of remuneration drawn during the year

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

                    MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE:  JAIPUR                           Sd/-              Sd/-

DATE:  01.09.2020                       R.K. PODDAR           AMITA PODDAR

      Director & CEO           Chairperson & Director

  DIN: 00143571                  DIN: 00143486
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ANNEXURE – VII

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT

OVERALL REVIEW

Mayur Leather Products Ltd. is a publicly held Company engaged in the manufacture and export 
of leather shoes and shoe uppers. Majority Sales of the company comprises of Local Sale. For the 
period under review the Local sale (comprising of direct sale and through merchant seller) was 
86.69% of total sale (Export plus Local Sale excluding other operating Income), rest being the 
Export sale. The Company has decreased its Export sales to Rs. 127.94 lacs as compared to last 
year which was Rs. 461.28 lacs. During the year the Company has decreased its turnover to 
167663 pairs from 270944 pairs in the last year.

The company has been able to stable its sale due to aggressive marketing efforts to improve the 
product mix to give better margins. 

There was no change in the capital structure of the Company during the year. The Earning per 
Share (EPS) (basic and diluted) for current year 2019-20 is Rs. (2.43)/-as compared to Rs. (5.22)/- 
for the previous year 2018-2019.

OPPORTUNITIES

The Company has carved a niche for itself in the industrial shoe/ uppers segment both 
internationally and in the domestic market. The quality of the Company's products is well 
recognized. Embarking on this strength we are constantly working towards expanding the market 
for Company's products to other countries apart from our present work areas. 

We intend to extend our exports but at the same time due to World-wide recession, we wish to 
increase domestic sales. We are also approaching to other big industries to launch our products.

CHALLENGES

There had been countrywide lockdown due to worldwide COVID-19 pandemic caused economic 
slowdown which hampered the whole economy. It is expected that reforms and revival packages as 
announced by the government for revival and boosting to economy will act as a catalyst in current 
scenario and also company is to try and develop new products for the export market and 
compensate by developing market in India.

OUTLOOK

With the efficient management and zealous employees' strength, the Company constantly 
endeavors to keep up with the trend of increase in the turnover and reduction in expenses. We 
therefore hope to keep this trend going with ongoing efforts to increase the domestic as well as new 
foreign markets, adequately training the manpower to effect the reduction in costs and increase in 
productivity and efficiency.

RISK & CONCERNS

To sustain and grow in global market one must be ready for some level of uncertainty. Greater the 
uncertainty, higher the risk. The risk management function is integral to the Company and its 
objectives include ensuring that critical risks are identified, continuously monitored and 
managed effectively in order to protect the Company's business. The Company operates in an 
environment which is affected by various factors some of which are controllable while some are 
outside the control of the company. The Company proactively takes reasonable steps to identify 
and monitor the risk and makes efforts to mitigate significant risks that may affect it. Some of the 
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risks that are potentially significant in nature and need careful monitoring are listed here under:

Macroeconomic Factors

• Political Factors

• Product portfolio

• Competition from product launches

• Talent acquisition & retention

• Continuance and growth of channel partners

• High dependence on suppliers

• Geographic concentration

• Changes in government policy and legislation

• Chinese Competition

• Raw Material Price Increase

• Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM AND ADEQUACY

The Company has a well-established and comprehensive internal control system. Documents, 
policies and authorization guidelines comply with the level of responsibility and standard 
operating procedures specific to the respective businesses. Observation made in internal audit 
reports on business processes, systems, procedures and internal control and implementation 
status of recommended remedial measures by Internal Auditors, are regularly presented to and 
reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Board. The system of internal control is being improved to 
ensure that all assets are safe and protected against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, 
and that all transactions are authorized, recorded and reported correctly. The Company regularly 
conducts internal check, using external and internal resources to monitor the effectiveness of 
internal control in the organization. It strictly adheres to corporate policy with respect to financial 
reporting and budgeting functions. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors deals with 
significant control issues and instructs further areas to be covered.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The summarized financial performance of the Company as compared to last year is shown as 
under:

HUMAN RESOURCE

Human resource remains a cornerstone of Mayur Leather's business. The Company continues to 
lay emphasis on attracting and retaining talent. Personnel developmental initiatives including 
training, both technical and managerial, are regularly conducted to enhance human potential. As 
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on 31st March 2020, the number of employees including the contractual employees is 102.

The Company recognizes that its employees are its principal assets and that it's continued growth 
is dependent upon the ability to attract and retain quality people. The company has established a 
full-fledged Human Resources Department, which is entrusted with the responsibility of retaining 
and developing the skills of all its employees. The Company also recognizes the importance of 
providing training and development opportunities to its people to enhance their skills and 
experiences, which in turn enables the Company to achieve its business objectives. 

Cautionary Statements: 

Statements in the Management Discussions and Analysis Report describing the Company's 
objectives, expectations or predictions may be forward looking within the meaning of applicable 
securities, laws and regulations. Actual results could differ materially from those expressed or 
implied. Important factors that would make a difference to the Company's operations include 
demand supply conditions, raw material prices, change in governmental regulations, tax regimes, 
economic developments within the country and other factors such as litigation and labour 
negotiations.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

                    MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED

PLACE:  JAIPUR                           Sd/-              Sd/-

DATE:  01.09.2020                       R.K. PODDAR           AMITA PODDAR

      Director & CEO           Chairperson & Director

  DIN: 00143571                  DIN: 00143486
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED 

Report on the Standalone Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying standalone Ind AS financial statements of Mayur Leather 
Products Limited (“the Company”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2020, the 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Cash Flow Statement 
and the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and a summary of the significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our Opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
except for the effects and indeterminate effect of the matters described in the basis for Qualified 
Opinion section below, the aforesaid Standalone Financial Statements give the information 
required by the Companies Act,2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs 
of the company as at March 31, 2020 and total comprehensive income (comprising profit and 
other comprehensive income), changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the Standalone financial statements under the provisions of the Act and 
the Rules there under, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Qualified Opinion

1. As Detailed in Note No. 44 of Standalone Financial Statements Gratuity has not been 
provided as per actuary valuation given in IND AS-19 (Employees Benefits). 

2. As Detailed in Note No. 45 of Standalone Financial Statements Loans and Advances 
amounting in Rs. 625.61 Lakhs are subject to confirmation and Reconciliation.  

Emphasis of matter

We draw your attention to Note 43 to the standalone financial statements, which describe the 
management's assessment of the impact of the outbreak of coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic on 
the business operations of the Company. The management believes that no adjustments, other 
than those already considered, are required in the financial statements as it does not impact the 
current financial year, however in view of the various preventive measures taken (such as 
complete lock-down restrictions by the Government of India, travel restrictions etc.) and highly 
uncertain economic environment, a definitive assessment of the impact on the subsequent 
periods is highly dependent upon circumstances as they evolve. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters

1.  We draw attention to Annexure to the Auditor's Report Para No. vii (A) that the company is 
not regular in depositing its statutory dues with appropriate authorities. Our opinion is not 
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qualified in respect of this matter.

2. The Company is in process to prepare Return and reconciliation for goods and service tax 
for the financial year 2019-20. In the absence of sufficient details and information, we are 
unable to determine the correct liabilities of tax, interest and penalty; accordingly we are 
unable to comment on the impact of related liability included in these Standalone 
Financial Statements

Other Information

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report but does not include the Standalone 
Financial Statements and our Auditors Report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be made 
available to us after the date of this Auditor's Report. Our opinion on the Standalone Financial 
Statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Standalone 
Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appear to be materially 
misstated. When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take 
appropriate action as applicable under the relevant laws and regulations.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Management's Responsibility for the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these standalone Ind AS 
financial statements to give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance 
(including other comprehensive income), cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in 
accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian 
Accounting Standards specified in the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as 
amended) under Section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of 
the Company and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and 
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of 
the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone Ind AS 
financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Standalone Financial Statements, management  & Board of Directors is 
responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the 
company's financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibility 

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Standalone Financial 
Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to 
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issue an Auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Standalone Financial 
Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
skepticism through-out the audit. We also;

• Identify and asses the risks of material misstatement of the Standalone Financial 
Statements whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risk and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide basis for 
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3) (i) of the Act, 
we are responsible for expressing our opinion whether the company has adequate internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the operating 
effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our Auditors report to the related disclosures in the 
Standalone Financial Statements or, if such disclosure are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusion are based on the audit evidence obtained upto the date of our 
Auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and contents of the Standalone Financial 
Statements including the disclosures and whether the Standalone Financial Statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit

We  also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them 
all relationship and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safe guards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matter in 
our Auditors report unless law or regulations precludes public disclosures about the 
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matters or when in extremely rare circumstances ,we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequence of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communications

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

1. As required by the Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 2016, issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Act (“the Order”), and 
on the basis of such checks of the books and records of the Company as we considered 
appropriate and according to the information and explanations given to us, we give in the 
Annexure B a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order. 

2. As required by Section 143 (3) of the Act, we report that: 

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit.

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 
Company so far as it appears from our examination of those books. 

c) The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive 
income), the Cash Flow Statement and the Statement of Changes in Equity dealt 
with by this Report are in agreement with the books of account. 

d) In our opinion the aforesaid standalone Ind AS financial statements comply with the 
Indian Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act.

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 
31, 2020 taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is 
disqualified as on March 31, 2020 from being appointed as a director in terms of 
Section 164 (2) of the Act. 

f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such 
controls, refer to our separate Report in Annexure A. 

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors' Report in 
accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our knowledge and belief and according to the information 
and explanations given to us: 

i. As Explained to us, the Company has no material impact of pending 
Litigation as at March 31, 2020 on its financial position in its  standalone Ind 
AS financial statements; 

ii. The Company does not have derivative contracts and in respect of other long-
term contracts there are no material foreseeable losses as at March 31, 2020;

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, 
to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Company during the 
year ended March 31, 2020;

iv. The reporting on disclosures relating to Specified Bank Notes is not 
applicable to the Company for the year ended March 31, 2020. 

(i) with respect to the matter to be included in the Auditors' Report under Section 197(16): 

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the remuneration 
paid by the Company to its directors during the current year is in accordance with the provisions 
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of Section 197 of the Act. The remuneration paid to any director is not in excess of the limit laid 
down under Section 197 of the Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not prescribed other 
details under Section 197(16) which are required to be commented upon by us.    

For H.C. GARG & COMPANY 

 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

 FRN: 000152C 

Sd/-

(MADHUKAR GARG)

PROPRIETOR

M.NO. 070162

Place: Jaipur

Date:  23/07/2020

UDIN : 20070162AAAAAJ2562
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Annexure A to Independent Auditor's Report 

Referred to in paragraph 2(f) of the Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements forming 
part of the Independent Auditors' Report of even date to the members of Mayur Leather Products 
Limited on the standalone Ind AS Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2020. 

Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements under 

Clause (i) of Subsection 3 of Section 143 of the Act 

1. We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of 
Mayur Leather Products Limited (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2020 in conjunction with 
our audit of the standalone Ind AS financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
on that date. 

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls 

2. The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 
financial controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI). These responsibilities include the 
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were 
operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, 
including adherence to company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention 
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the 
Act. 

Auditors' Responsibility 

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls 
with reference to financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing deemed to be prescribed 
under section 143(10) of the Act to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial 
controls, both applicable to an audit of internal financial controls and both issued by the 
ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements was 
established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material 
respects. 

4. Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
the internal financial controls system with reference to financial statements and their 
operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and 
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on 
the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion on the Company's internal financial controls system with 
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reference to financial statements. 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements 

6. A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) Pertain to 
the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) Provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) Provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of 
the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to financial statements 

7. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of 
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 

Opinion 

8. In our opinion, the Company has maintained, in all material respects, an adequate internal 
financial controls system with reference to financial statements and such internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements were operating effectively as at 
March 31, 2020, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

For H.C. GARG & COMPANY 

 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

 FRN: 000152C 

Sd/-

(MADHUKAR GARG)

PROPRIETOR

M.NO. 070162

Place: Jaipur

Date:  23/07/2020

UDIN : 20070162AAAAAJ2562               
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Annexure B to Independent Auditors

Referred to in paragraph 1 of the Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements forming part 
of the Independent Auditors' Report of even date to the members of Mayur Leather Products 
Limited on the Ind AS Financial Statements as of and for the year ended March 31, 2020.

i. (a) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars including 
quantitative details and situation of property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets.

(b) The property, plant and equipment are physically verified by the Management. In 
our opinion the periodicity of physical verification  is reasonable having regard to the 
size of the Company and the nature of its assets. No material discrepancies have 
been noticed on such verification. 

(c) The title deeds of immovable properties, as disclosed in Note 7(a) on property, plant 
and equipment to the Ind AS financial statements, are held in the name of the 
Company. 

ii. The physical verification of inventory (excluding inventories lying with third parties and 
stock in transit) have been conducted at reasonable intervals by the Management during 
the year. In respect of inventory lying with third parties, these have substantially been 
confirmed by them. The discrepancies noticed on physical verification of inventory as 
compared to book records were not material. 

iii. The Company has granted loans to body corporate covered in the register maintained 
under section 189 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”).

a. In our opinion, the rate of interest and other terms and conditions on which the 
loans had been granted to the Body Corporate listed in the register maintained 
under section 189 of the Act, are prima facie, not prejudicial to the interest of the 
company.

b. In our opinion and according to the Information and Explanation given to us, that is 
absence of agreement/arrangement, there is no stipulation of schedule of 
Repayment of Principal and Payment of Interest. Hence, we are unable to make 
specific comment on the Regularity of Repayment of Principal and Payment of 
Interest, in such case.

c. In our Opinion and according to the information and Explanation given to us, in 
absence of agreement/arrangement,  we are unable to verify the total amount 
overdue for more than ninety days, if any in respect of loan granted to a Body 
corporate listed in the register maintained under section 189 of the Act.

iv. In our opinion, and according to the information and explanations given to us, the 
Company has complied with the provisions of Section 185 and 186 of the Companies Act, 
2013 in respect of investments made,  loans granted, guarantees provided or security given 
to the parties.

v. The Company has not accepted any deposits from the public within the meaning of 
Sections 73, 74, 75 and 76 of the Act and the Rules framed there under to the extent 
notified. 

vi. Maintenance of cost records has not been specified by the Central Government under sub 
section (1) of section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
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vii. (A) According to the books and records as produced and examined by us in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing practices in India and also based on 
Management representations, undisputed statutory dues including Provident 
Fund, Employees' state Insurance Dues, Income Tax, Sales Tax, Service Tax, 
Custom Duty, Excise Duty, VAT, Goods & Service Tax Act, w.e.f. 01.07.2017 Cess 
and Other material Statutory dues have generally not been regularly deposited, by 
the Company during the year with the appropriate authorities in India.  According 
to the information and explanation given to us, undisputed amounts   payable in 
respect of the aforesaid dues were outstanding as at March 31st, 2020 for a period of 
more than six months from the date of becoming payable.

(B) According to the information and explanations given to us and the records of the 
Company examined by us, there have been no disputed dues which have not been 
deposited with the respective authorities in respect of Income Tax, Service Tax, Duty 
of Custom, Duty of Excise and VAT, Goods & Service Tax Act, w.e.f. 01.07.2017 as at 
March 31, 2020.

viii. According to the records of the Company examined by us and the information and 
explanation given to us, the Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or 
borrowings to any financial institution or bank or Government or dues to debenture 
holders as at the Balance Sheet date. 

ix. The Company has not raised any moneys by way of initial public offer, further public offer 
(including debt instruments) and term loans during the year. Accordingly, the provisions of 
Clause 3(ix) of the Order are not applicable to the Company. 

x. During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried out 
in accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we have neither come across any instance of 
material fraud by the Company or on the Company by its officers or employees, noticed or 
reported during the year, nor have we been informed of any such case by the Management. 

xi. The Company has paid/ provided for managerial remuneration in accordance with the 
requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of Section 197 read with Schedule V to the 
Act. 

xii. As the Company is not a Nidhi Company and the Nidhi Rules, 2014 are not applicable to it, 
the provisions of Clause 3(xii) of the Order are not applicable to the Company. 

xiii. The Company has entered into transactions with related parties which are in compliance 
with the provisions of Sections 177 and 188 of the Act. The details of such related party 
transactions have been disclosed in the Ind AS Financial Statements as required under 
Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 24, Related Party Disclosures specified under Section 
133 of the Act. 

xiv. The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or 
fully or partly convertible debentures during the year under review. Accordingly, the 
provisions of Clause 3(xiv) of the Order are not applicable to the Company. 

xv. The Company has not entered into any non cash transactions with its directors or persons 
connected with him. Accordingly, the provisions of Clause 3(xv) of the Order are not 
applicable to the Company. 
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xvi  The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of 
India Act, 1934. Accordingly, the provisions of Clause 3(xvi) of the Order are not applicable 
to the Company.

For H.C. GARG & COMPANY 

 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

 FRN: 000152C 

Sd/-

(MADHUKAR GARG)

PROPRIETOR

M.NO. 070162

Place: Jaipur

Date:  23/07/2020

UDIN : 20070162AAAAAJ2562               
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1 COMPANY OVERVIEW

Mayur Leather Products Limited (the Company) is a publicly held Company incorporated 
on 13th March 1987. The registered office of the Company is located at B-5, Vrindavan 
Apartment, Vrindavan Vihar, King's Road, Jaipur-302019. The company is engaged in the 
manufacturing and export of Leather Shoes and Shoe Uppers. The majority sales of the 
Company comprises of exports. The Company is engaged in production of industrial shoe / 
uppers segment both internationally and in the domestic market. The Equity Shares of the 
Company are presently listed with the Bombay Stock Exchange Limited (BSE).

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ASSUMPTIONS AND NOTES 

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

• Ministry of corporate affairs has notified roadmap to implement IND AS notified 
under Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) Rules 2015 as amended by the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) Rules 2016. And according to the said 
roadmap the company is required to apply IND AS in preparation of financial 
statement from the financial year beginning from 1st April 2017.

•  "These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (hereinafter referred to as the‘Ind AS’) as notified by Ministry of 
Corporate Affairs pursuant to Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘Act’) read 
with of theCompanies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules,2016 as amended and 
other relevant provisions of the Act."

2.2  Use of estimates, assumption and judgement

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates, 
judgements and assumptions. Actual results could vary from these estimates. The 
estimates, judgements and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision effects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future years (refer 
Notes on critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements). The 
management believes that the estimates used in preparation of the financial 
statements are prudent and reasonable.

3 Statement of Compliance

The financial statements comprising of the Balance Sheet, Statement of Profit and Loss, 
Statement of changes in equity, Statement of Cash Flow together with notes comprising a 
summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Other Explanatory Information for the 
Year ended 31st March, 2020 and comparative information in respect of the preceding 
period and Balance Sheet as on transition date, i.e. 1st April 2016 have been prepared in 
accordance with IND AS as notified and duly approved by the Board of Directors, along with 
proper explanation for material departures.

4 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Basis of Measurement

The standalone financial statements have been prepared on accrual basis and 
under the historical cost convention except following which have been measured at 
fair value:
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a. Financial assets and liabilities except those carried at amortised cost

b. Defined benefit plans – Plan assets measured at fair value less present value of 
defined obligations

An asset is classified as current when it is:

(a) Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating 
cycle,

(b)Held primarily for the purpose of trading,

(c)Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

(d)Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current

A liability is classified as current when it is:

(a)Expected to be settled in normal operating cycle,

(b)Due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

(c)There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-
current.

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and 
their realisation in cash or cash equivalents. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

4.2 Inventories

a. Raw Material :

Raw materials, components, stores and spares are valued at cost or landed value 
whichever is lower. However, materials and other items held for use in the 
production of inventories are not written down below cost if the finished products in 
which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost. Cost of raw 
materials, components, stores and spares is determined on FIFO basis.

b. Finished goods & work in progress:

Work in progress is valued at cost

Finished goods are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost includes 
direct materials and labour and a portion of manufacturing overhead based on 
normal operating capacity.Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

4.3 Statement of cash flows

Cash flows are reported using the method as prescribed in IND AS 7 'Statement of Cash 
flows', where by net profit before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions of a non-cash 
nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or payments and 
item of income or expense associated with investing or financial cash flows. The cash flows 
from operating, investing and financing activities of the Company are segregated.
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4.4 Prior Period Errors

Prior period errors include omissions and misstatements arising from a failure to use 
reliable information that was available or could have been obtained when financial 
statements for those periods were approved for issue.

"Prior period errors relating to the last comparative period  will be shown by restating the 
comparative figures of Balance sheet and Profit and loss, wherever necessary. Thus, it will 
be disclosed in the comparative financial statements as if the error had not even occurred."

4.5 Revenue recognition and other income

a. Revenue on sale of products

The Company recognise revenues on accrual basis and measured it at the fair value 
of the consideration received or receivable, net of discounts, volume rebates, GST. 
Revenue is shown inclusive of excise duty since excise duty is liability of the 
manufacturer which forms part of the cost of production, irrespective of whether the 
goods are sold or not. 

Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the 
associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no 
continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue 
can be measured reliably.

Export sale has been recognised at the time of removal of goods from factory at 
invoice value (whether FOB or CIF) on the basis of exchange rates declared by 
Custom Department for that particular month.

No significant financing component exists in the sales.

b. Revenue from services (Job Charges Received):

Revenue from services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services 
are rendered.

c. Export Benefits:

Export benefits in the form of Duty Drawback, Duty Entitlement Pass Book (DEPB) 
and other schemes are recognized in the Statement of profit and loss when the right 
to receive credit as per the terms of the scheme is established in respect of exports 
made and when there is no significant uncertainty regarding the ultimate collection 
of the relevant export proceeds.

4.6 Other income

a.  Interest

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding 
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that 
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

b. Dividend

Dividend income is recognized in the Statement of profit and loss when the right to 
receive dividend is established.
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c. Lease Rent

Lease Rent is recognized as income in the Statement of profit and loss on accrual basis i.e. 
as and when lease rent is due.

4.7 Property, Plant and Equipment

"Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that:(a) are held for use in the production 
or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes; and(b) 
are expected to be used during more than one period."

Items such as spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment are recognised in 
accordance with this Ind AS when they meet the definition of property, plant and 
equipment. Otherwise, such items are classified as inventory. 

Initial recognition: The Company has applied for the one time transition exemption of 
considering the carrying cost on the transition date i.e. April 1, 2016 as the deemed cost 
under IND AS.The initial cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase 
price, including non-refundable purchase taxes, and any directly attributable costs of 
bringing an asset to working condition and location for its intended use. It also includes the 
initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on 
which it is located.

Subsequent expenses and recognition: Expenditure incurred after the property, plant and 
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, are normally 
charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which the costs are incurred.  
Subsequently Property, Plant and Equipment are carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

Gain/loss on disposal: The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
on the date of disposal or retirement.

Depreciation: Property, Plant and Equipments except free hold land is depreciated on 
Straight Line Method in the manner prescribed in Schedule II to the Companies Act, 2013.  
Depreciation on additions and deletion during the year has been provided on pro-data basis 
with refernce to the month of addition and deletion. 

Capital work in progress

The expenses relating to the construction of building is capitalised at the time when they 
are incurred. And when the asset would be completed, the same shall be transferred to 
asset a/c.

4.8 Leases

Lease income from operating leases where the Company is a lessor is recognised in income 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless the receipts are structured to increase in 
line with expected general inflation to compensate for the excepted inflationary cost 
increases. The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on their 
nature.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of profit and loss 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless either (a) another systematic basis is 
more represantative of the time pattern of the user’s benefit even if the payments to the 
lessors are not on that basis, or (b) the payments to the lessor are structured to increase in 
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line with expected general inflation to compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost 
increases. In the event that lease premiums are paid to enter into operating leases, such 
premiums are recognised as a prepaid expenditure and amortised over the period of lease.

Financial lease transactions entered are considered as financial arrangements and the 
leased assets are capitalised on an amount equal to the present value of future lease 
payments and corresponding amount is recognised as a liability. The lease payments made 
are apportioned between finance charge and reduction of outstanding liability in relation to 
leased asset.

Leasehold land has been amortised over the remaining period of lease term.

4.9 Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets are stated at cost of acquisition net of recoverable taxes, trade discount 
and rebates less accumulated amortisation/depletion and impairment loss, if any. Such 
cost includes purchase price, borrowing costs, and any cost directly attributable to 
bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use.

4.10 Investments in Subsidiary

The Company has invested in shares of its subsidiary Mayur Global Private Limited of 
whose 52% shares are in hand of Mayur Leathers Product Limited.

4.11 Borrowing

Borrowings are initially recognised at net of transaction costs incurred and measured at 
amortised cost. Transaction cost is amortized over the period of Borrowing using straight 
line method

4.12 Employee retirement benefits 

a. Short - term Employee Benefits:-

All employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of rendering the service 
are classified as short-term employee benefits and they are recognised in the period 
in which the employee renders the related services

The Company recognises the undiscounted amount of short term employee benefits 
expected to be paid in exchange for services rendered as a liability after deducting 
any amount already paid.

b. Post-employment Benefits:-

(a) Defined Contribution Plan: Contribution to superannuation fund is recognised 
as an expense in the Statement of Profit & Loss as it is incurred. There are no other 
obligations. Eligible employees receive benefits from a provident fund which is a 
defined contribution plan. Both the eligible employee and the Company make 
monthly contributions to the provident fund plan equal to a specified percentage of 
the covered employee's salary.

4.13 Earnings per share

•  Basic earnings per share is computed using the net profit for the year attributable to 
the shareholders’ and weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
year.

•  Diluted earnings per share is computed using the net profit for the year attributable 
to the shareholder’ and weighted average number of equity and potential equity 
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shares outstanding during the year, except where the result would be anti-dilutive. 

4.14 Impairment of assets 

An asset is considered as impaired when at the date of Balance Sheet there are indications 
of impairment and the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount (i.e. the 
higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value in use). The carrying amount is reduced to 
the recoverable amount and the reduction is recognized as an impairment loss in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss. Any impairment gain loss is transfarred to profit and loss.

4.15 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

Provisions involving substantial degree of estimation in measurement are recognised when 
there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events and it is 
probable that there will be an outflow of resources. Contingent Liabilities are not 
recognised but disclosed in the notes. Contigent assets is neither recongnised nor disclosed 
in the financial statement.

Provisions and contingencies

a) Provisions

•  Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

•  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using 
equivalent period government securities interest rate. 

Unwinding of the discount is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss as a 
finance cost. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate.

b) Contingencies

•  Contingent liabilities are disclosed when there is a possible obligation arising from 
past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Company or a present obligation that arises from past events where it is either 
not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle or a reliable 
estimate of the amount cannot be made. Information on contingent liabilities is 
disclosed in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

•  Contingent assets are not recognised in the books of the accounts and are not 
disclosed in the notes. However, when the realisation of income is virtually certain, 
then the related asset is no longer a contingent asset, but it is recognised as an asset 
and the corresponding income is booked in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

4.16 Income taxes

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s 
taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax 
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method on temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount in the 
financial statement. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
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been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are excepted to 
apply when the related defferred income tax assets is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unused tax 
losses, only if, it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same 
taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are off set where the Company has 
a legally forceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss, except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, respectively.

Minimum Alternate Tax credit is recognised as deferred tax asset only when and to the 
extent there is convincing evidence that the Company will pay normal income tax during 
the specified period. Such asset is reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and the carrying 
amount of the MAT credit asset is written down to the extent there is no longer a convincing 
evidence to the effect that the Company will pay normal income tax during the specified 
period.

4.17 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and at bank, deposits held at call with 
banks.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash 
and short term deposits, having maturity less than 3 months.

Other bank balances include FDRs with government department which are not readily 
available.

4.18 Financial instruments – initial recognition, subsequent measurement and impairment

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

a. Financial Assets

•  Financial Assets are measured at amortised cost or fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income or fair value through Profit or Loss, depending on the 
judgment of the management for managing those financial assets and the assets’ 
contractual cash flow characteristics.

•  Subsequent measurements of financial assets are dependent on initial 
categorisation. For impairment purposes, financial assets are assessed 
individually.

De-recognition of financial Asset

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the balance sheet) 
when: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
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• The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has 
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to 
a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, but has transferred control of the asset. When the Company has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards 
of ownership. 

Financial assets that are debt instruments, and are measured at amortised cost e.g., loans, 
debt securities, deposits, trade receivables and bank balance 

Trade receivables:

• A receivable is classified as a ‘trade receivable’ if it is in respect to the amount due 
from customers on account of goods sold or services rendered in the ordinary course 
of business. Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost , less expected credit loss if any. 

•  Impairment is made for the expected credit losses. The estimated impairment losses 
are presented as a deduction from the value of trade receivables and the impairment 
losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss under "Other expenses".

• Subsequent changes in assessment of impairment are recognised in ECL and the 
change in impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
under "Other Expenses".

• Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectible are written off by 
reducing the carrying amount of trade receivables and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss under "Other Expenses".

• Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to "Other 
Income".

Investments in Mutual Funds

Investments in Mutual Funds have been valued at their fair values through Profit and Loss 
account, as on the closing date. The fair value has been taken from the market.

Financial liabilities

At initial recognition, all financial liabilities other than those valued at fair value through 
profit and loss are recognised at fair value less transaction costs that are directly related to 
the issue of financial liability. Transaction costs of financial liability carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for 
trading. The Company has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial 
measurement recognition at fair value through profit or loss. 

Trade and other payables

A payable is classified as ‘trade payable’ if it is in respect of the amount due on account of 
goods purchased or services received in the normal course of business. These amounts 
represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of 
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financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current 
liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are 
recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.

De-recognition of financial liability

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that 
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid is 
recognised inprofit or loss as "Other Income" or "Finance Expense".

4.19 Foreign Currency Transaction 

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are normally recorded at the exchange rate 
prevailing at the time of transaction. 

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency at the year end and not covered by 
forward exchange contracts are translated at the year end rates and those covered by 
forward contracts are restated at each reporting date by using spot rate and exchange rate 
difference was booked. Corresponding Forward Contract Receivable & Payable is also 
booked in books of account taken on such forward contracts. The Exchange rate difference 
on Forward Contract was charged to Statement of Profit & Loss. Premium paid on such 
Forward Contract is charged to Statement of Profit & Loss on periodic basis.

4.20 Assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current 
assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair 
value less cost to sell. Any resulting impairment loss is recognized in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss. On classification as held for sale the assets are no longer depreciated. 

4.21 Segment reporting

" The Company identifies primary segments based on  nature of products and returns and 
the internal organisation and management structure. The operating segments are the 
segments for which separate financial information is available and for which operating 
profit/loss amounts are evaluated regularly by the managing board in deciding how to 
allocate resources and in assessing performance."

4.22 Government Grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and the Company will comply with all attached 
conditions.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are included 
in non-current liabilities as deferred income and are credited to Statement of Profit and 
Loss on a straight - line basis over the expected lives of related assets and presented within 
other income. 

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGEMENTS

The estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the financial statements are 
continuously evaluated by the Company and are based on historical experience and 
various other assumptions and factors (including expectation of future events) that the 
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Company believes to be reasonable under the existing circumstances. Differences between 
actual results and estimates are recognised in the period in which the results are 
known/materialised. 

The said estimates are based on the facts and events that existed as at the reporting date, or 
that which occured after the date but provide additional evidence about the conditions 
existing at the reporting date.

a Property, plant and equipment

•  Management assesses the remaining useful lives and residual value of property, 
plant and equipment. Management believes that the assigned useful lives and 
residual value are reasonable.

b Income taxes

•  Management judgment is required for the calculation of provision for income taxes 
and deferred tax assets and liabilities.

•  The Company reviews at each balance sheet date the carrying amount of deferred 
tax assets. The factors used in estimates may differ from actual outcome which 
could lead to significant adjustment to the amounts reported in the standalone 
financial statements.

c Contingencies

•  Management judgement is required for estimating the possible outflow of resources, 
if any, in respect of contingencies/claim/litigations against the Company as it is not 
possible to predict the outcome of pending matters with accuracy.

d Impairment of accounts receivable and advances

•  Trade receivables carry interest and are stated at their fair value as reduced by 
appropriate allowances for expected credit losses. Individual trade receivables are 
written off when management deems them not to be collectible. Impairment is 
recognised for the expected credit losses.

e Discounting of Security deposit, and other long term liabilities

•  For majority of the security deposits received, the timing of outflow, as mentioned in 
the underlying contracts, is not substantially long enough to discount. The 
treatment would not provide any meaningful information and would have no 
material impact on the financial statements. 
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35 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

35.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Company’s financial risk management is an integral part of how to plan and 
execute its business strategies. The Company’s financial risk management policy is 
set by the Managing Board.

35.2 Financial risk factors

•  The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise of trade payables, borrowings 
and other liabilities. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to manage 
finances for the Company’s operations and also for purchase of capital assets and 
for safeguarding its interests under contracts. 

•  The Company has given loans to other parties, trade and other receivables, 
investments in equity shares and cash and cash equivalents that arise directly from 
its operations as a part of its financial assets. 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

a.  Market risk

•  Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 

b. Interest Rate Risk

•  Market risk is the risk of loss of future earnings, fair values or future cash flows that 
may result from a change in the price of a financial instrument. The value of a 
financial instrument may change as a result of changes in the interest rates, foreign 
currency exchange rates, equity prices and other market changes that affect market 
risk sensitive instruments. Market risk is attributable to all market risk sensitive 
financial instruments including investments and deposits, foreign currency 
receivables, payables and loans and borrowings.

b.  Credit risk

•  Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a 
financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.

•  The Company makes major of its sales, either on an advance basis or against credit, 
and hence the credit risk is minimal. Financial Instruments like trade receivables 
are subject to slight credit risk against which the Company has booked Expected 
Credit Losses.

The ageing of trade receivables as on 31st March 2020 is as below:
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c.  Liquidity risk

•  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may not be able to meet its present and 

future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses.

•  The Company’s objective is to at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to 

meet its cash requirements. The Company monitors rolling forecasts of its liquidity 

requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs.

Market Risk

Commodity price risk and sensitivity

Being a manufacturing Company, the commodity risk of the Company is there. In 

case of some commodities sold by the Company, there is a price risk for which no 

specific arrangements have been made by the Company.

Expected Credit Losses

100% Expected Credit losses are recognised for all financial assets which have 

become due for more than 36 months. 

Financial instruments and cash deposits

The Company considers factors such as track record, size of the institution, market 

reputation and service standards to select the banks with which balances and deposits are 

maintained. The Company does not maintain significant cash and deposit balances other 

than those required for its day to day operations. The rest amount is deposited in the PD 

account, with the government, which can be withdrawn as and when required and on 

which interest, as fixed by government, is being received. This PD account is a risk free 

deposit.  

•  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may not be able to meet its present and future 

cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses.

•  The Company’s objective is to at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its 

cash requirements. The Company monitors rolling forecasts of its liquidity requirements to 

ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs.

Market Risk

Commodity price risk and sensitivity

Being a manufacturing Company, the commodity risk of the Company is there. In case of 

some commodities sold by the Company, there is a price risk for which no specific 

arrangements have been made by the Company.

Expected Credit Losses

100% Expected Credit losses are recognised for all financial assets which have become due 

for more than 36 months. 

Financial instruments and cash deposits

The Company considers factors such as track record, size of the institution, market 

reputation and service standards to select the banks with which balances and deposits are 

maintained. The Company does not maintain significant cash and deposit balances other 

than those required for its day to day operations. The rest amount is deposited in the PD 

account, with the government, which can be withdrawn as and when required and on 

which interest, as fixed by government, is being received. This PD account is a risk free 

deposit.  
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36 Fair Value Measurement 

Financial Instrument by category and hierarchy

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the 

instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other 

than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

1. Fair value of cash and short-term deposits, trade and other short term receivables, 

trade payables, other current liabilities, short term loans from banks and other 

financial institutions approximate their carrying amounts largely due to short term 

maturities of these instruments.

2. Financial instruments with fixed and variable interest rates are evaluated by the 

Company based on parameters such as interest rates and individual credit 

worthiness of the counterparty. Based on this evaluation, allowances are taken to 

account for expected losses of these receivables. Accordingly, fair value of such 

instruments is not materially different from their carrying amounts.

3. IND AS 101 allows Company to fair value its property, plant and machinery on 

transition to IND AS, the Company has fair valued property, plant and equipment, 

and the fair valuation is based on deemed cost approach where the existing carrying 

amounts are treated as fair values.

"The fair values for loans and security deposits were calculated based on cash flows 

discounted using a current lending rate.In case of security deposits, Company has used 

the fixed deposit rate of the year of making advance.They are classified as level 3 fair values 

in the fair value hierarchy due to the inclusion of unobservable inputs including counter 

party credit risk."

The fair values of non-current borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using a 

current borrowing rate. They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy 

due to the use of unobservable inputs, including own credit risk.

For other financial assets and liabilities that are measured at amortised cost, the carrying 

amounts are equal to the fair values.

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of 

financial instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: Quoted prices / published NVA (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities. It includes fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets and are 

based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date and financial instruments like 

mutual funds for which net assets value (NAV) is published mutual fund operators at the 

balance sheet date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). 

It includes fair value of the financial instruments that are not traded in an active market 

(for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. 

These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is 

available and rely as little as possible on the company specific estimates. If all significant 

inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable then instrument is included in 

level 2.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that 

is, unobservable inputs). If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable 

market data, the instrument is included in level 3.
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37 FAIR VALUE HEIRARCHY

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of Company’s asset and 

liabilities, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3 as described below:

a Quoted prices/published NAV (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities (level 1). It includes fair value of financial instruments traded in active 

markets and are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.

b Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 

prices) (level 2). It includes fair value of the financial instruments that are not traded 

in an active market (for example, interest free security deposits) is determined by 

using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of 

observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on the 

company specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an 

instrument are observable then instrument is included in level 2.

c Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs) (level 3). If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on 

observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities accounted for in the Standalone 

Financial Statements as on the reporting date of the entity
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38 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Objective

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to maximize the 

shareholder value. i.e. to provide maximum returns to the shareholders. The Company’s 

primary objective when managing capital is to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital 

structure and healthy capital ratios and safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern in order to support its business and provide maximum returns to the 

shareholders. The Company also proposes to maintain an optimal capital structure to 

reduce the cost of capital. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes 

during the year ended March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019.

Policy

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in 

economic conditions and the rules and regulations framed by the Government under 

whose control the Company operates.

Process

The Company manage its capital by maintaining sound/optimal capital structure  

financial ratios, such as net debt-to-equity ratio on a monthly basis and implements capital 

structure improvement plan when necessary. Debt-to-equity ratio as of March 31, 2019 

and March 31, 2018 is as follows:
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39 Related Party Transactions

In accordance with the requirements of IND AS 24, name of the related party, related party 

relationship, transactions and outstanding balances including commitments where 

control exits and with whom transactions have taken place during reported periods, are 

reported as under:

(i) Related party name and relationship:

(b) Relatives of Executive Directors with whom transactions have taken place:

(c) Non Excecutive Directors and Enterprises Over which they are able to exercise 

significant influence (With whom transaction have taken place):
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED 

Report on the Consolidated Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated Ind AS financial statements of Mayur Leather 
Products Limited (“hereinafter referred to as the Holding Company”) and its subsidiary (the 
Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”), (refer Note 1 to the 
attached consolidated Ind AS financial statements), comprising of the consolidated Balance Sheet 
as at March 31, 2020, the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss(including Other 
Comprehensive Income), the consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended and the 
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information prepared based on the relevant records (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements”). 

In our Opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
except for the effects and indeterminate effect of the matters described in the basis for Qualified 
Opinion section below, the aforesaid Consolidated Financial Statements give the information 
required by the Companies Act,2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair 
view in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs 
of the company as at March 31, 2020 and total comprehensive income (comprising profit and 
other comprehensive income), changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described in the 
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the Consolidated financial statements under the provisions of the Act and 
the Rules there under, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Qualified Opinion

1. As Detailed in Note No. 47 of consolidated Financial Statements Gratuity has not 
been provided as per actuary valuation given in IND AS-19 (Employees Benefits). 

2. As Detailed in Note No. 48 of consolidated Financial Statements Loans and 
Advances amounting in Rs. 625.61 Lakhs are subject to confirmation and 
Reconciliation.

Emphasis of matter

We draw your attention to Note 46 to the Consolidated financial statements, which describe the 
management's assessment of the impact of the outbreak of coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic on 
the business operations of the Company. The management believes that no adjustments, other 
than those already considered, are required in the financial statements as it does not impact the 
current financial year, however in view of the various preventive measures taken (such as 
complete lock-down restrictions by the Government of India, travel restrictions etc.) and highly 
uncertain economic environment, a definitive assessment of the impact on the subsequent 
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periods is highly dependent upon circumstances as they evolve. 

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters

1. The Holding Company is not regular in depositing its statutory dues with 
appropriate authorities. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter. 

2. The Holding Company is in process to prepare Return and reconciliation for goods 
and service tax for the financial year 2019-20. In the absence of sufficient details 
and information, we are unable to determine the correct liabilities of tax, interest 
and penalty; accordingly we are unable to comment on the impact of related liability 
included in these Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. We did not audit the Financial Information of one subsidiary whose Financial 
Information reflect total assets of Rs. 310.80 Lakhs, and net assets of Rs. 241.97 
Lakhs as at March 31, 2020 and total revenue of Rs. 46.58 Lakhs. Total 
comprehensive income (comprising of Profit and other comprehensive income) of 
Rs. -95.95 Lakhs and net cash flow amounting to (Rs.0.88 Lakhs) for the year ended 
on that date, as considered in the Consolidated financial statements. These 
Financial information have been audited by other auditor whose report have been 
furnished by the management, and our opinion on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect 
of this subsidiary and our report in terms of sub section (3) of Section 143 of the Act 
in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiary is based solely on the report of the 
other auditor. 

Other Information

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report but does not include the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and our Auditors Report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be made 
available to us after the date of this Auditor's Report. Our opinion on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the Consolidated financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Consolidated 
Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appear to be materially 
misstated. When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take 
appropriate action as applicable under the relevant laws and regulations.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and those charged with Governance for the Consolidated 

Financial Statements

The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these Consolidated Financial 
Statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance (including 
other comprehensive income), cash flows and Changes in equity  of the Company in accordance 
with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting 
Standards specified in the Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) Rules, (as amended ) under 
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Section 133 of the Act. This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company 
and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of 
appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; and design, implementation and  maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, 
that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

 In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, management & Board of Directors are 
responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the 
company's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to 
issue an Auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these Consolidated Financial 
Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
skepticism through-out the audit. We also;

• Identify and asses the risks of material misstatement of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risk and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3) (i) 
of the Act, we are responsible for expressing our opinion whether the company has 
adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place 
and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our Auditors report to the 
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related disclosures in the Consolidated Financial Statements or, if such disclosure 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusion are based on the audit 
evidence obtained upto the date of our Auditors report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and contents of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements including the disclosures and whether the Consolidated 
Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner 
that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit

We  also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all 
relationship and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safe guards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matter in our Auditors 
report unless law or regulations precludes public disclosures about the matters or when in 
extremely rare circumstances ,we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequence of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communications

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

1.  As required by Section143(3) of the Act, we report, to the extent applicable, that: 

a. We have sought and, obtained all the information and explanations which to the 
best of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the 
aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements.

b. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law maintained by the 
Holding Company, including relevant records relating to preparation of the 
aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements have been kept so far as it 
appears from our examination of those books and records of the Holding Company. 

c. The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
(including other comprehensive income), Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and 
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity dealt with by this Report are in 
agreement with the relevant books of account maintained by the Holding Company 
including relevant records relating to the preparation of the consolidated Ind AS 
financial statements. 

d. In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated Ind AS financial statements comply with 
the Indian Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act. 

e. On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding 
Company as on March 31, 2020 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the 
Holding Company, none of the directors of the Holding Company is disqualified as 
on March 31, 2020 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of 
the Act.
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f. With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such 
controls, refer to our separate Report in Annexure A.

g. With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors' Report in 
accordance with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us: 

i. As Explained to us, the Company has no material impact of pending Litigation as at 
March 31, 2020 on its financial position in its  consolidated Ind AS financial 
statements; 

ii. The Group does not have derivative contracts and in respect of other long-term 
contracts there are no material foreseeable losses as at March 31, 2020. 

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, required to be transferred, to the 
Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Holding Company during the year 
ended March 31, 2020. 

iv. The reporting on disclosures relating to Specified Bank Notes is not applicable to the 
Holding Company for the year ended March 31, 2020

(i) with respect to the matter to be included in the Auditors' Report under Section 
197(16): 

In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us, the remuneration 
paid by the Company to its directors during the current year is in accordance with the provisions 
of Section 197 of the Act. The remuneration paid to any director is not in excess of the limit laid 
down under Section 197 of the Act. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs has not prescribed other 
details under Section 197(16) which are required to be commented upon by us.    

For H.C. GARG & COMPANY 

 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

 FRN: 000152C 

Sd/-

(MADHUKAR GARG)

PROPRIETOR

M.NO. 070162

Place: Jaipur

Date:  23/07/2020

UDIN : 20070162AAAAAJ2562               
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Annexure A to Independent Auditor's Report

Referred to in para 1(f) of Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements of the Independent 
Auditor's Report of even date to the members of MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED on the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2020.

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Act

1. In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of 
and for the year ended March 31, 2020, we have audited the internal financial controls over 
financial reporting of MAYUR LEATHER PRODUCTS LIMITED (hereinafter referred to as 
“the Holding Company”) and its subsidiary companies, its associate companies and jointly 
controlled companies, which are companies incorporated in India, as of that date.

Management's Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

2. The respective Board of Directors of the Holding company, its subsidiary companies, its 
associate companies and jointly controlled companies, which are companies incorporated 
in India, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based 
on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company 
considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on 
Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI). These responsibilities include the design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were 
operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, 
including adherence to company's policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention 
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting 
records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the 
Act.

Auditor's Responsibility

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls 
over financial reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the 
“Guidance Note”) and the Standards on Auditing deemed to be prescribed under Section 
143(10) of the Act to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both 
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls and both issued by the ICAI. Those 
standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate 
internal financial controls over financial reporting was established and maintained and if 
such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

4. Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
internal financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating 
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting included 
obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design 
and operating effectiveness of internal financial control based on the assessed risk. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the 
risk of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
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a basis for our audit opinion on the Company's internal financial controls system over 
financial reporting.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting  

6. A Company's internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control over financial 
reporting includes those policies and procedures  that (1) pertain to the maintenance of 
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company (2) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use or disposition of 
the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.          
Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting  

7. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, 
including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, 
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls over financial reporting to 
future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control  over financial 
reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the polices or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Holding company, its subsidiary companies, its associate companies 
and jointly controlled companies, which are companies incorporated in India, have, in all 
material respects, an adequate internal financial controls systems over financial reporting 
and such internal financial controls over financial reporting were operating effectively as at 
March 31, 2020, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

For H.C. GARG & COMPANY 

 CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

 FRN: 000152C 

Sd/-

(MADHUKAR GARG)

PROPRIETOR

M.NO. 070162

Place: Jaipur

Date:  23/07/2020

UDIN : 20070162AAAAAJ2562               
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 COMPANY OVERVIEW AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1 COMPANY OVERVIEW

Mayur Leather Products Limited (the Company) is a publicly held Company incorporated on 13th 
March 1987. The registered office of the Company is located at B-5, Vrindavan Apartment, 
Vrindavan Vihar, King's Road, Jaipur-302019. The company is engaged in the manufacturing and 
export of Leather Shoes and Shoe Uppers. The majority sales of the Company comprises of 
exports. The Company is engaged in production of industrial shoe / uppers segment both 
internationally and in the domestic market. The Equity Shares of the Company are presently 
listed with the Bombay Stock Exchange Limited (BSE). The company has a holding of 52% in its 
subsidiary Mayur Global which is engaged in the same line of business.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ASSUMPTIONS AND NOTES 

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Ministry of corporate affairs has notified roadmap to implement IND AS notified under 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standard) Rules 2015 as amended by the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standard) Rules 2016. And according to the said roadmap the company 
is required to apply IND AS in preparation of financial statement from the financial year 
beginning from 1st April 2017.

•  "These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Indian 
Accounting Standards (hereinafter referred to as the‘Ind AS’) as notified by Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs pursuant to Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘Act’) read 
with of theCompanies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules,2016 as amended and 
other relevant provisions of the Act."

•  The accounting policies are applied consistently to all the periods presented in the 
financial statements, including the preparation of the opening Ind AS Balance Sheet 
as at 1st April, 2016 being the date of transition to Ind AS. The financial statements 
of the Parent Company, its subsidiary have been consolidated using uniform 
accounting policies

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting 

•  Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the group has control. The group controls an 
entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its 
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power to direct the relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. The acquisition method of 
accounting is used to account for business combinations by the group. The group 
combines the financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries line by line 
adding together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses. 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions 
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the group. Non-controlling interests in the 
results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated 
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statement of profit and loss, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
balance sheet respectively. 

•  Associates

"Associates are all entities over which the company has significant influence but not 
control or joint control. This is generally the case where the group holds between 
20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using 
the equitymethod of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost."

•  Equity Method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at 
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the group’s share of the post-acquisition 
profits or losses of the investee in profit and loss, and the group’s share of other 
comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends 
received or receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a 
reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or 
exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term 
receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates and joint 
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in these entities. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted 
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the group.

2.3 Use of estimates, assumption and judgement

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make 
estimates, judgements and assumptions. Actual results could vary from these 
estimates. The estimates, judgements and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision effects only that period or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future years 
(refer Notes on critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements). The 
management believes that the estimates used in preparation of the financial 
statements are prudent and reasonable.

3 Statement of Compliance

The consolidated financial statements comprising of the Consolidated Balance Sheet, 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, Statement of changes in equity,Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flow together with notes comprising a summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies and Other Explanatory Information for the year ended 31st March 
2020 and comparative information in respect of the preceding period and Balance Sheet as 
on transition date, i.e. 1st April 2016 have been prepared in accordance with IND AS as 
notified and duly approved by the Board of Directors, along with proper explanation for 
material departures.
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4 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Basis of Measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on accrual basis and 
under the historical cost convention except following which have been measured at 
fair value:

a Financial assets and liabilities except those carried at amortised cost

b Defined benefit plans – Plan assets measured at fair value less present value of 
defined obligations

Current versus non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on 
current/non-current classification

The Company has presented non-current assets and current assets before equity, non-
current liabilities and current liabilities in accordance with Schedule III, Division II of 
Companies Act, 2013 notified by MCA.

An asset is classified as current when it is:

(a) Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating 
cycle,

(b) Held primarily for the purpose of trading,

(c) Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or

(d) Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period

All other assets are classified as non-current

A liability is classified as current when it is:

(a) Expected to be settled in normal operating cycle,

(b) Due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

(c) There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 
twelve months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-
current.

The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and 
their realisation in cash or cash equivalents. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees, which is the 
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

4.2 Inventories

a. Raw Material :

Raw materials, components, stores and spares are valued at cost or landed value 
whichever is lower. However, materials and other items held for use in the 
production of inventories are not written down below cost if the finished products in 
which they will be incorporated are expected to be sold at or above cost. Cost of raw 
materials, components, stores and spares is determined on FIFO basis.

b. Finished goods & work in progress:
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Work in progress is valued at cost

Finished goods are valued at lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost includes 
direct materials and labour and a portion of manufacturing overhead based on 
normal operating capacity.Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

4.3 Statement of cash flows

Cash flows are reported using the method as prescribed in IND AS 7 'Statement of 
Cash flows', where by net profit before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions 
of a non-cash nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash 
receipts or payments and item of income or expense associated with investing or 
financial cash flows. The cash flows from operating, investing and financing 
activities of the Company are segregated.

4.4 Prior Period Errors

Prior period errors include omissions and misstatements arising from a failure to 
use reliable information that was available or could have been obtained when 
financial statements for those periods were approved for issue.

Prior period errors relating to the last comparative period  will be shown by restating 
the comparative figures of Balance sheet and Profit and loss, wherever necessary. 
Thus, it will be disclosed in the comparative financial statements as if the error had 
not even occurred.

4.5 Revenue recognition and other income

a. Revenue on sale of products

The Company recognise revenues on accrual basis and measured it at the fair value 
of the consideration received or receivable, net of discounts, volume rebates, GST. 
Revenue is shown inclusive of excise duty since excise duty is liability of the 
manufacturer which forms part of the cost of production, irrespective of whether the 
goods are sold or not. 

Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the 
associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no 
continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue 
can be measured reliably.

Export sale has been recognised at the time of removal of goods from factory at 
invoice value (whether FOB or CIF) on the basis of exchange rates declared by 
Custom Department for that particular month.

No significant financing component exists in the sales.

b. Revenue from services (Job Charges Received):

Revenue from services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services 
are rendered.

c. Export Benefits:

Export benefits in the form of Duty Drawback, Duty Entitlement Pass Book (DEPB) 
and other schemes are recognized in the Statement of profit and loss when the right 
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to receive credit as per the terms of the scheme is established in respect of exports 
made and when there is no significant uncertainty regarding the ultimate collection 
of the relevant export proceeds.

4.6 Other income

a.  Interest

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding 
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that 
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

b. Dividend

Dividend income is recognized in the Statement of profit and loss when the right to 
receive dividend is established. 

c. Lease Rent

Lease Rent is recognized as income in the Statement of profit and loss on accrual 
basis i.e. as and when lease rent is due.

4.7 Property, Plant and Equipment

"Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that:(a) are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services, for rental to others, or for administrative 
purposes; and(b) are expected to be used during more than one period."

Items such as spare parts, stand-by equipment and servicing equipment are 
recognised in accordance with this Ind AS when they meet the definition of property, 
plant and equipment. Otherwise, such items are classified as inventory. 

Initial recognition: The Company has applied for the one time transition exemption 
of considering the carrying cost on the transition date i.e. April 1, 2016 as the 
deemed cost under IND AS.The initial cost of property, plant and equipment 
comprises its purchase price, including non-refundable purchase taxes, and any 
directly attributable costs of bringing an asset to working condition and location for 
its intended use. It also includes the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and 
removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located.

Subsequent expenses and recognition: Expenditure incurred after the property, 
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance, are normally charged to the Statement of Profit and Loss in the period 
in which the costs are incurred.  Subsequently Property, Plant and Equipment are 
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, 
if any. 

Gain/loss on disposal: The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss on the date of disposal or retirement.

Depreciation: Property, Plant and Equipments except free hold land is depreciated 
on Straight Line Method in the manner prescribed in Schedule II to the Companies 
Act, 2013.  Depreciation on additions and deletion during the year has been 
provided on pro-data basis with refernce to the month of addition and deletion.
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Capital work in progress

The expenses relating to the construction of building is capitalised at the time when 
they are incurred. And when the asset would be completed, the same shall be 
transferred to asset a/c.

4.8 Leases

Lease income from operating leases where the Company is a lessor is recognised in 
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless the receipts are 
structured to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for the 
excepted inflationary cost increases. The respective leased assets are included in 
the balance sheet based on their nature.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of profit 
and loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless either (a) another 
systematic basis is more represantative of the time pattern of the user’s benefit even 
if the payments to the lessors are not on that basis, or (b) the payments to the lessor 
are structured to increase in line with expected general inflation to compensate for 
the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases. In the event that lease premiums 
are paid to enter into operating leases, such premiums are recognised as a prepaid 
expenditure and amortised over the period of lease.

Financial lease transactions entered are considered as financial arrangements and 
the leased assets are capitalised on an amount equal to the present value of future 
lease payments and corresponding amount is recognised as a liability. The lease 
payments made are apportioned between finance charge and reduction of 
outstanding liability in relation to leased asset.

Leasehold land has been amortised over the remaining period of lease term.

4.9 Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets are stated at cost of acquisition net of recoverable taxes, trade 
discount and rebates less accumulated amortisation/depletion and impairment 
loss, if any. Such cost includes purchase price, borrowing costs, and any cost 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended 
use.

4.10 Investments in Subsidiary

The Company has invested in shaers of its subsidiary Mayur Global Private Limited 
of whose 52.15% shares are in hand of Mayur Leathers Product Limited.

4.11 Borrowing

Borrowings are initially recognised at net of transaction costs incurred and 
measured at amortised cost. Transaction cost is amortized over the period of 
Borrowing using straight line method

4.12 Employee retirement benefits 

a. Short - term Employee Benefits:-

All employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of rendering the service 
are classified as short-term employee benefits and they are recognised in the period 
in which the employee renders the related services

The Company recognises the undiscounted amount of short term employee benefits 
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expected to be paid in exchange for services rendered as a liability after deducting 
any amount already paid.

b. Post-employment Benefits:-

(a) Defined Contribution Plan: Contribution to superannuation fund is recognised 
as an expense in the Statement of Profit & Loss as it is incurred. There are no other 
obligations other than the contribution payable to the respective trust. Eligible 
employees receive benefits from a provident fund which is a defined contribution 
plan. Both the eligible employee and the Company make monthly contributions to 
the provident fund plan equal to a specified percentage of the covered employee's 
salary.

4.13 Earnings per share

•  Basic earnings per share is computed using the net profit for the year attributable to 
the shareholders’ and weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
year.

•  Diluted earnings per share is computed using the net profit for the year attributable 
to the shareholder’ and weighted average number of equity and potential equity 
shares outstanding during the year, except where the result would be anti-dilutive. 

4.14 Impairment of assets 

An asset is considered as impaired when at the date of Balance Sheet there are 
indications of impairment and the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to sell and value in use). 
The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable amount and the reduction is 
recognized as an impairment loss in the Statement of Profit and Loss. Any 
impairment gain loss is transfarred to profit and loss.

4.15 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

Provisions involving substantial degree of estimation in measurement are 
recognised when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
past events and it is probable that there will be an outflow of resources. Contingent 
Liabilities are not recognised but disclosed in the notes. Contigent assets is neither 
recongnised nor disclosed in the financial statement.

Provisions and contingencies

•  Provisions

•  Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

•  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using 
equivalent period government securities interest rate. 

Unwinding of the discount is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss as a 
finance cost. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and are adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate.

Contingencies

•  Contingent liabilities are disclosed when there is a possible obligation arising from 
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past events, the existence of which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Company or a present obligation that arises from past events where it is either 
not probable that an outflowof resources will be required to settle or a reliable 
estimate of the amount cannot be made. Information on contingent liabilities is 
disclosed in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

•  Contingent assets are not recognised in the books of the accounts and are not 
disclosed in the notes. However, when the realisation of income is virtually certain, 
then the related asset is no longer a contingent asset, but it is recognised as an asset 
and the corresponding income is booked in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

4.16 Income taxes

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current 
period’s taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate adjusted by 
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences 
and to unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method on temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amount in the financial statement. Deferred income tax is determined using tax 
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the 
reporting period and are excepted to apply when the related defferred income tax 
assets is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences and 
unused tax losses, only if, it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate 
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are off set 
where the Company has a legally forceable right to offset and intends either to settle 
on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss, except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Minimum Alternate Tax credit is recognised as deferred tax asset only when and to 
the extent there is convincing evidence that the Company will pay normal income 
tax during the specified period. Such asset is reviewed at each Balance Sheet date 
and the carrying amount of the MAT credit asset is written down to the extent there 
is no longer a convincing evidence to the effect that the Company will pay normal 
income tax during the specified period.

4.17 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and at bank, deposits held at call 
with banks.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consists 
of cash and short term deposits, having maturity less than 3 months.
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Other bank balances include FDRs with the government department which are not 
readily available.

4.18 Financial instruments – initial recognition, subsequent measurement and 
impairment

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity 
and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

a. Financial Assets

•  Financial Assets are measured at amortised cost or fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income or fair value through Profit or Loss, depending on the 
judgment of the management for managing those financial assets and the assets’ 
contractual cash flow characteristics.

•  Subsequent measurements of financial assets are dependent on initial 
categorisation. For impairment purposes, financial assets are assessed 
individually.

b De-recognition of financial Asset

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the balance sheet) 
when: 

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 

• The Companyhas transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has 
assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay 
to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, but has transferred control of the asset. When the Company has transferred 
its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards 
of ownership. 

c Financial assets that are debt instruments, and are measured at amortised cost e.g., 
loans, debt securities, deposits, trade receivables and bank balance 

d Trade receivables:

•  A receivable is classified as a ‘trade receivable’ if it is in respect to the amount due 
from customers on account of goods sold or services rendered in the ordinary course 
of business. Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost , less expected credit loss if any. 

•  Impairment is made for the expected credit losses. The estimated impairment losses 
are presented as a deduction from the value of trade receivables and the impairment 
losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss under "Other expenses".

• Subsequent changes in assessment of impairment are recognised in ECL and the 
change in impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss 
under "Other Expenses".

• Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectible are written off by 
reducing the carrying amount of trade receivables and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss under "Other Expenses".
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• Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to "Other 
Income".

e Investments in Equity Instruments

Investments in Equity Instruments have been valued at their fair values through 
Profit and Loss account, as on the closing date. The fair value has been taken from 
the stock exchange where the shares are listed.  

f Financial liabilities

At initial recognition, all financial liabilities other than those valued at fair value 
through profit and loss are recognised at fair value less transaction costs that are 
directly related to the issue of financial liability. Transaction costs of financial 
liability carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities 
held for trading. The Company has not designated any financial liabilities upon 
initial measurement recognition at fair value through profit or loss. gT rade  and  
other payables

A payable is classified as ‘trade payable’ if it is in respect of the amount due on 
account of goods purchased or services received in the normal course of business. 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company 
prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are 
presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months after 
the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

4.19 Foreign Currency Transaction 

Transactions denominated in foreign currency are normally recorded at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the time of transaction. 

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency at the year end and not covered by 
forward exchange contracts are translated at the year end rates and those covered 
by forward contracts are restated at each reporting date by using spot rate and 
exchange rate difference was booked. Corresponding Forward Contract Receivable 
& Payable is also booked in books of account taken on such forward contracts. The 
Exchange rate difference on Forward Contract was charged to Statement of Profit & 
Loss. Premium paid on such Forward Contract is charged to Statement of Profit & 
Loss on periodic basis.

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency at the year end and not covered by 
forward exchange contracts are translated at the year end spot rates and those 
covered by forward contracts are restated at each reporting date by using forward 
rate for remaining period prevailing on the reporting date and exchange rate 
difference was booked.  The Exchange rate difference on Forward Contract was 
charged to Statement of Profit & Loss, since Fair Value Model has been adopted by 
the Comapany.

4.20 Assets held for sale

      Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
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use. Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any resulting impairment loss is 
recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss. On classification as held for sale the 
assets are no longer depreciated. 

4.21 Segment reporting

" The Company identifies primary segments based on  nature of products and 
returns and the internal organisation and management structure. The operating 
segments are the segments for which separate financial information is available and 
for which operating profit/loss amounts are evaluated regularly by the managing 
board in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance."

4.22 Government Grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Company will comply 
with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to the purchase of property, plant and equipment are 
included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and are credited to Statement 
of Consolidated Profit and Loss on a straight - line basis over the expected lives of 
related assets and presented within other income. 

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGEMENTS

The estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements are continuously evaluated by the Company and are based on historical 
experience and various other assumptions and factors (including expectation of future 
events) that the Company believes to be reasonable under the existing circumstances. 
Differences between actual results and estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
results are known/materialised. 

The said estimates are based on the facts and events that existed as at the reporting date, or 
that which occured after the date but provide additional evidence about the conditions 
existing at the reporting date.

a Property, plant and equipment

•  Management assesses the remaining useful lives and residual value of property, 
plant and equipment. Management believes that the assigned useful lives and 
residual value are reasonable.

b Income taxes

•  Management judgment is required for the calculation of provision for income taxes 
and deferred tax assets and liabilities.

•  The Company reviews at each balance sheet date the carrying amount of deferred 
tax assets. The factors used in estimates may differ from actual outcome which 
could lead to significant adjustment to the amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements.

c Contingencies

•  Management judgement is required for estimating the possible outflow of resources, 
if any, in respect of contingencies/claim/litigations against the Company as it is not 
possible to predict the outcome of pending matters with accuracy.
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d Impairment of accounts receivable and advances

•  Trade receivables carry interest and are stated at their fair value as reduced by 
appropriate allowances for expected credit losses. Individual trade receivables are 
written off when management deems them not to be collectible. Impairment is 
recognised for the expected credit losses.

f Discounting of Security deposit, and other long term liabilities

•  For majority of the security deposits received, the timing of outflow, as mentioned in 
the underlying contracts, is not substantially long enough to discount. The 
treatment would not provide any meaningful information and would have no 
material impact on the financial statements. 
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(a.)  Equity Shares : - The Company has one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 10/- 

per share. Each shareholderis eligible for one vote per share held. The dividend proposed by 

the Board of Directors is subject to the approval of the shareholders in the ensuing Annual 

General Meeting except in case of interim dividend. In the event of liquidation. The Equity 

shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the Company after distribution 

of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their share holding. 
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36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

36.1 Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The Company’s financial risk management is an integral part of how to plan and 

execute its business strategies. The Company’s financial risk management policy is 

set by the Managing Board.

36.2 Financial risk factors

•  The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise of trade payables, borrowings 

and other liabilities. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to manage 

finances for the Company’s operations and also for purchase of capital assets and 

for safeguarding its interests under contracts. 

•  The Company has given loans to other parties, trade and other receivables, 

investments in equity shares and cash and cash equivalents that arise directly from 

its operations as a part of its financial assets. 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

a. Market risk

•  Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. 

i. Interest Rate Risk

•  Market risk is the risk of loss of future earnings, fair values or future cash flows that 

may result from a change in the price of a financial instrument. The value of a 

financial instrument may change as a result of changes in the interest rates, foreign 

currency exchange rates, equity prices and other market changes that affect market 

risk sensitive instruments. Market risk is attributable to all market risk sensitive 

financial instruments including investments and deposits, foreign currency 

receivables, payables and loans and borrowings.

b. Credit risk

•  Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a 

financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.

•  The Company makes major of its sales, either on an advance basis or against credit, 

and hence the credit risk is minimal. Financial Instruments like trade receivables 

are subject to slight credit risk against which the Company has booked Expected 

Credit Losses.

The ageing of trade receivables as on 31 March 2020 is as below:
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Expected Credit Losses

100% Expected Credit losses are recognised for all financial assets which have become due 

for more than 36 months. 

Financial instruments and cash deposits

The Company considers factors such as track record, size of the institution, market 

reputation and service standards to select the banks with which balances and deposits are 

maintained. The Company does not maintain significant cash and deposit balances other 

than those required for its day to day operations. The rest amount is deposited in the PD 

account, with the government, which can be withdrawn as and when required and on 

which interest, as fixed by government, is being received. This PD account is a risk free 

deposit.  

Liquidity risk

The Company’s objective is to at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its 

cash requirements. There are no borrowings by the Company, whether short term or long 

term. The Company monitors rolling forecasts of its liquidity requirements to ensure it has 

sufficient cash to meet operational needs and the excess funds are transferred to the PD 

account as per guidelines of Government of Rajasthan. 

Since it a cash rich Company, the liquidity risk faced by the Company is very minute. 

Competition and price risk

The Company faces competition from local and foreign competitors. Nevertheless, it 

believes that it has competitive advantage in terms of high quality products and also owing 

to government regulations, because it enjoys monopoly in mining of Rock Phosphate which 

is the main source of revenue, in the state of Rajasthan, for the Company.
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37 Fair Value Measurement 

Financial Instrument by category and hierarchy

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the 
instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other 
than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

1. Fair value of cash and short-term deposits, trade and other short term receivables, 
trade payables, other current liabilities, short term loans from banks and other 
financial institutions approximate their carrying amounts largely due to short term 
maturities of these instruments.

2. Financial instruments with fixed and variable interest rates are evaluated by the 
Company based on parameters such as interest rates and individual credit 
worthiness of the counterparty. Based on this evaluation, allowances are taken to 
account for expected losses of these receivables. Accordingly, fair value of such 
instruments is not materially different from their carrying amounts.

3. IND AS 101 allows Company to fair value its property, plant and machinery on 
transition to IND AS, the Company has fair valued property, plant and equipment, 
and the fair valuation is based on deemed cost approach where the existing carrying 
amounts are treated as fair values.

"The fair values for loans and security deposits were calculated based on cash flows discounted 
using a current lending rate.In case of security deposits, Company has used the fixed deposit rate 
of the year of making advance.They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy 
due to the inclusion of unobservable inputs including counter party credit risk."
The fair values of non-current borrowings are based on discounted cash flows using a current 
borrowing rate. They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the use of 
unobservable inputs, including own credit risk.

For other financial assets and liabilities that are measured at amortised cost, the carrying 
amounts are equal to the fair values.

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of 
financial instruments by valuation technique:

Level 1: Quoted prices / published NVA (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. It includes fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets and are based on 
quoted market prices at the balance sheet date and financial instruments like mutual funds for 
which net assets value (NAV) is published mutual fund operators at the balance sheet date.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). It includes 
fair value of the financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-
the-counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques 
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on 
the company specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are 
observable then instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs). If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market 
data, the instrument is included in level 3.
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38 FAIR VALUE HEIRARCHY

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of Company’s asset and 

liabilities, grouped into Level 1 to Level 3 as described below:

a Quoted prices/published NAV (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities (level 1). It includes fair value of financial instruments traded in active 

markets and are based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.

b Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 

prices) (level 2). It includes fair value of the financial instruments that are not traded 

in an active market (for example, interest free security deposits) is determined by 

using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of 

observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on the 

company specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an 

instrument are observable then instrument is included in level 2.

c Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs) (level 3). If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on 

observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities accounted for in the 

Standalone Financial Statements as on the reporting date of the entity
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39 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Objective

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to maximize the 
shareholder value. i.e. to provide maximum returns to the shareholders. The Company’s 
primary objective when managing capital is to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital 
structure and healthy capital ratios and safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to support its business and provide maximum returns to the 
shareholders. The Company also proposes to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes 
during the year ended March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2019.

Policy

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the rules and regulations framed by the Government under 
whose control the Company operates.

Process

The Company manage its capital by maintaining sound/optimal capital structure  
financial ratios, such as net debt-to-equity ratio on a monthly basis and implements capital 
structure improvement plan when necessary. Debt-to-equity ratio as of March 31, 2019 
and March 31, 2020 is as follows:
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42 Related Party Transactions

In accordance with the requirements of IND AS 24, name of the related party, related party 
relationship, transactions and outstanding balances including commitments where 
control exits and with whom transactions have taken place during reported periods, are 
reported as under:

(i) Related party name and relationship:

(b) Relatives of Executive Directors with whom transactions have taken place:

(ii) Transactions Carried Out With Related Parties referred in point 1 above in 

ordinary course of Business
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44A EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following is a reconciliation of the equity shares used in the computation of basic and 
diluted earnings per equity share:

Net profit available to equity holders of the Company used in the basic and diluted earnings 
per share was determined as follows:

The number of shares used in computing basic EPS is the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding during the year.

The diluted EPS is calculated on the same basis as basic EPS, after adjusting for the effects 
of potential dilutive equity. 
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B Other Disclosures

1 Segment have been identified in line with the IndianAccounting Standard 108

2 The Company has disclosed business segment as the primary segment. Segments 
have been identified taking into account nature of product,the differing risk & 
returns, the organisation structure and internal reporting system.Company has 
discontinued business of resuturant activity hence it is not material and reportable 
as differentsegment hence treated as part ofother activity

3 The company mainly engaged in Export sales. Geographical Segment is Identified in 
line with the Accounting Standard Ind AS-108,

4 Segment Revenue, segment results, segment assets and segment liabilities include 
the respective amounts identifiable to each of the segments as also amounts 
allocated on a reasonable basis. The expenses which are not directly allocable to the 
business segments are shown as common expense. Assets and liabilities that 
cannot be allocated between the segment are shown as common assets/ liabilities 
respectively.
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45 Financial and Derivatives Instruments

The company have following foreign curreny earnings and expenditures :

(Amount in Rs)

Expenses in foreign currency 

46 The management has considered all the possible effects, if any, that may result from the 

pandemic relating to COVID-19 on the results of operations, liquidity, capital resources 

and carrying amounts of trade receivables and inventories (including biological assets). In 

developing the assumptions and estimates relating to the uncertainties as on the balance 

sheet date in relation to the recoverable amounts of the assets, the management has 

considered the global economic conditions prevailing as at the date of approval of these 

financial results and has used the internal and external soures of information to yhe extent 

determined by it. The actual outcome of these assumptions and estimates may vary in 

future due to the impact of the pandemic. The managements will continue to monitor and 

assess the ongoing developments and respond accordingly.

47 Gratuity Liability has been calculated on estimated basis and not as per Acturial Valuation 

which is requied as per Ind AS 19 "Employee Benefits"

48 "The Company has given Loans and Advances  amounting to Rs. 625.61 Lacs (other than 

Loans to Subsidiary) out of which 625.61 Lacs are subject to Confirmation and 

Reconciliation."
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